
 

_________________________________________________________________________________ 

Damian Allen 
Chief Executive 
 
Issued on: Friday, 17 June 2022 
 
Governance Services Officer for this meeting Christine Rothwell 
 Senior Governance Officer 
 
Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 

Agenda 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
To all Members of the 

 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
Notice is given that a Meeting of the above Panel is to be held as follows: 

  
Venue:   Council Chamber, Civic Office, Waterdale, Doncaster, DN1 3BU 
 
Date:      Monday, 27th June, 2022 
 
Time:      4.30 pm 
 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
PLEASE NOTE: The wearing of face coverings within the building is encouraged 
however, it is a personal choice and no longer a mandatory requirement. For those 
who have any concerns about their safety or wish to take additional precautions 
during the meeting, face masks, hand sanitiser and anti-bacterial wipes are available 
should you require them. 
 
BROADCASTING NOTICE: this meeting is being recorded for subsequent broadcast 
via the council’s web site. The council is a data controller under the data protection act 
and images collected during this recording will be retained in accordance with the 
council’s published policy. Please be aware that by entering the meeting, you accept 
that you may be recorded and the recording used for the purpose set out above. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

Items for Consideration: 
 

1. Apologies for absence  

 

2. To consider the extent, if any, to which the public and press are to be 
excluded from the meeting.  

 

3. Declarations of Interest, if any.   

4. Public Statements   

 (A period not exceeding 20 minutes for statements from up to 5 
members of the public on matters within the Panel’s remit, proposing 
action(s) which may be considered or contribute towards the future 
development of the Panel’s work programme). 

 

 

A.     Items where the Public and Press may not be excluded  
 

 

5. Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 2022-2027 (Pages 1 - 108)  

 
 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
 
Chair – Councillor Leanne Hempshall 
Vice-Chair – Councillor Tim Needham 

 
Councillors Bob Anderson, Laura Bluff, Steve Cox, Susan Durant, Charlie Hogarth, 
David Nevett and Rob Reid 
 
Co-optees: 
 
Antoinette Drinkhill 
Bernadette Nesbitt 
 
Invitees: Georgina Lightfoot, UNISON 
 
*Education Co-optees are invited to attend the meeting and vote on any Education 
functions which are the responsibility of the Authority’s Executive. They may also 
participate in but not vote on other issues relating to Children and Young People. 
 
 



www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 
 

Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 2022 – 2027 Report 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
                    

 
To the Chair and Members of the Children and Young People Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
HOME TO SCHOOL TRAVEL ASSISTANCE POLICY 2022 -2027 
 

Relevant Cabinet Member(s) Wards Affected Key Decision 

Cllr Lani-Mae Ball 
 

All Wards Yes 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide background and obtain approval for 

a revised Doncaster Council Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 
2022–2027. The provision of travel assistance is a contributing factor to the 
Education and Skills Strategy 2030 and Doncaster Delivering Together to 
enable all children and young people to achieve their full potential. 

 
2.  The primary responsibility for ensuring pupils and students attend school or 

college is always that of the parent or carer. In certain circumstances 
however, in order to ensure attendance, Doncaster Council can assist with 
travel arrangements.  

 
3.  The proposals outlined below have been the subject of a thorough 

consultation and we would like to express our gratitude to all of the people 
who took the time to respond to the consultation and provide their views on 
our proposals. Details of the number of responses received are contained 
within this report.  

 
4.  The new version of the Home to School Travel Assistance Policy will outline 

the responsibilities of the Council and provide a guide for families to the 
instances when travel assistance will be provided. It will also detail the types 
of travel assistance available to eligible pupils and students.  

 
Why is it a key decision? 
 
5. The proposal to revise and update the current Home to School Transport 

Policy, created in July 2015 (Appendix 4), and to implement the new version 
of the Home to School Travel Assistance Policy will have an impact on 

Date:  27th June 2022                                

Page 1

Agenda Item 5.



communities across all Doncaster Wards. These changes strengthen the 
current policy and provide clear and transparent guidance for the provision 
of travel assistance and home to school transport for pupils and students.  

 
 

EXEMPT REPORT 
 

6. This report is not exempt  
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

7. Committee Members are asked to:- 
 

 Note the results of the consultation 

 In light of the consultation, to note the proposed changes and 
clarification to the existing ‘Home to School Transport’ Policy 

 Note the phased removal of bus passes issued on a “no extra cost” 
basis with effect from September 2023 

 Note the phased removal of bus passes issued to pupils moving 
house during school years 10 and 11 with effect from publication of 
the policy 

 Note the proposal to issue and publish the revised Home to School 
Travel Assistance Policy (Appendix 3) 

 
WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR THE CITIZENS OF DONCASTER? 
 
8. Changes to the Policy highlight the importance of the right type of travel 

assistance and will help the Council to focus on the families most in need of 
additional assistance. These changes will also place more emphasis on 
independence and the use of sustainable transport methods.  

 
9. The new policy will clarify and update a number of areas of the existing 

policy and provide clear direction to families and transparency in the travel 
assistance options that are available to them.  It will also clarify the 
circumstances under which travel assistance is not available and remove 
areas which previously offered more choice to some based purely on where 
they lived 

 
10.  The Home to School Travel Assistance Policy will better meet the needs of 

children and their families. This will promote greater independence, help the 
development of essential life skills and provide opportunities and greater 
support to families 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
11. Due to the rising pupil population, and an increase in the number of pupils 

and students with complex needs, there has been a rapid growth in the 
number of requests received for home to school and college travel 
assistance to be provided by Doncaster Council. Requests for assistance 
have also increased as a result of an increase in the number of families on 
low income.  Therefore, there is a need to ensure that the provision of travel 
assistance combines effective, efficient and value for money services for the 
children and people of Doncaster.  There is an additional, focus on ensure 
the service provided to children and young people is of high quality and 

Page 2



suitable for their requirements.  There will be an ongoing focus on 
encouraging independence via the independent travel training offer. This 
offer supports the aim of Doncaster to be Child Friendly throughout.  With 
this in mind the existing Home to School Transport Policy (July 2015) has 
been reviewed and a number of suggestions made to update, clarify and 
change elements of this.  The following proposals formed the basis of a 
consultation held between 29th November 2021 and 31st January 2022: 
 
(a) A change to the name of the policy from Transport to Travel 

Assistance to better reflect the range of travel options available. 
 
(b) To introduce a contribution from parents of pupils and students who 

attend Post 16 provision towards transport – specifically for those 
pupils and students aged between 16 and 19 who receive direct 
transport to school or college in a taxi or minibus paid for by the 
council.  The proposal was for the equivalent cost of a single journey 
bus pass for pupils and students attending provision within Doncaster 
(or those at Dearne Valley College if this is closer than Doncaster 
College to their home).  This would be around £294 per Academic 
Year.  For those attending provision outside of Doncaster the 
proposal was for the equivalent cost of a double journey bus pass i.e. 
around £588 per academic year. 

 
(b.i) Please note that following a review of the feedback received 

from the consultation process it became clear that to proceed 
with the request for a contribution from families towards Post 16 
transport for students with SEND (Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities) would cause further hardship to struggling 
families who already face significant barriers.  Therefore, it was 
decided not to proceed with this proposal at the current time. 

 
(b.ii) This proposal, expected to save £113k over three years, was 

included in the Council’s Revenue Budget 2022/23 – 2024/25 
report approved by Full Council on 28th February 2022, 
therefore there is a need to look at alternative options to deliver 
this saving. 

 
(c) To remove the exception under the current policy which provides 

zero fare bus passes to some pupils who have expressed a 
preference for a school other than their nearest available or allocated 
school.  These are provided on the basis that no additional costs are 
incurred by the Council over those which would have been incurred 
had the pupils attended their nearest school.  Changes to bus 
services and the removal of some services has made this exception 
increasingly contentious.  It has also provided added benefit to some 
pupils based purely on where they live which others could not benefit 
from. 

 
(c.i) If this recommendation is approved, post consultation, it would take 

effect from 1st September 2023 for all pupils entering a new phase of 
education on that date or later.  This is on the basis that any agreed 
policy is published by 19th September 2022 as per draft Government 
statutory guidance on home to school transport. 

 

Page 3



(c.ii) For any in year transfers this would take effect from the date of 
publication regardless of the age of the applicant or the phase of 
education.  All new requests received after that date would be 
refused. 

 
(c.iii) All pupils who were in receipt of assistance prior to 1st September 

2023 will continue to receive assistance (if they remain eligible) until 
they finish their current phase of education (in most cases end of 
Year 11). 

 
(c.iv) Based on the current number of passes issued and the cost of an 

annual home to school zero fare pass it is estimated that the removal 
of the exception will provide the following year on year reduction in 
costs: 

 

Financial Year Estimated number of 
passes to be issued 

Total cost based on 
£292.00 per pass 

2022/2023 100 £29.200.00 

2023/2024 91 £26,572.00 

2024/2025 73 £21,316.00 

2025/2026 54 £15,768.00 

2026/2027 35 £10,220.00 

2027/2028 0 £0.00 

 
 
(d) To remove the exception under the current policy which provides 

zero fare bus passes to pupils move address within the Doncaster 
Area during years 10 and 11.  These passes are provided to pupils 
who move to a new address in excess of 3 miles from their existing 
school to avoid the necessity of moving schools during their GCSE 
studies. 

 
(d.i) If this recommendation is approved, post consultation, it would take 

effect from the date of publication of the policy and all new requests 
received after that date would be refused.  All pupils currently in 
receipt of a zero fare bus pass under this provision would continue to 
receive one until the end of year 11. 

 
(d.ii) For families who have to move due to reasons outside of their control 

there is an option within the policy to appeal for a pass based on 
exceptional circumstances and their individual reasons for moving 
could be considered at this point.  In an emergency situation any 
request for assistance would be considered as a matter of urgency to 
ensure that families are provided with an early decision and 
resolution. This will be highlighted on the Council website with an 
option to call and discuss the circumstances to speed up the process.  
An audit process is in development to ensure consistent decision 
making on these and other appeals.  This will be undertaken by an 
independent Assistant Director. 

 

(d.iii) Based on the current number of passes issued and the cost of an 
annual home to school zero fare pass it is estimated that the removal 
of the exception will provide the following year on year reduction in 
costs: 

Page 4



 

Financial Year Estimated number 
of passes to be 

issued 

Total cost based on £580 
per pass (assuming 

double journeys) 

2022/2023 14 £8,120.00 

2023/2024 10 £5,800.00 

2024/2025 4 £2,320.00 

2025/2026 0 £0.00 

 

(e) To remove the current requirement within the ‘Home to School 
Transport’ policy which provides travel assistance to eligible pupils 
attending their catchment school.   

 
(e.i) Please note that following consultation this option has been 

removed in order to carry out a full mapping exercise of the 
impact on service users. 

 

(f) An explanation of the difference between ‘compulsory school leaving 

age’ and the ‘participation age’ to provide clarity for families in 

respect of when the statutory duty to provide travel assistance 

ceases. 

 

(g) Additional information regarding types of ‘travel assistance’ and the 

options available to provide additional information to families. 

 

(h) Revision of the wording around ‘dual registration’ to provide 

increased clarity to families on the support available for those 

children registered at two qualifying schools. 

 

(I) Additional examples and clarity around occasions when we would not 

provide travel assistance to provide guidance for families. 

 

(j) Revision of the wording around the provision of travel assistance for 

families who have dual custody arrangements 

 

(k) Revision of the wording and the provision of additional information 

regarding the criteria for assessment of suitable or unsuitable walking 

routes 

 

(l) The addition of information in respect of the ‘Post 16 Policy 

Statement’ and where this is published.  The Council has a duty to 

publish this statement by the 31st May annually to assist families with 

decisions regarding Post 16 education 

 

(m) Clarification and additional information on what support and in what 

circumstances travel assistance will or will not be provided to 

excluded pupils and pupils who are the subject of managed moves 

 

(n) The addition of information around requests for travel assistance on 

medical grounds 

 

Page 5



(o) The addition of information around parental preference of schools for 

pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) and 

how this might affect assistance with travel, to enable families to 

make an informed choice 

 

(p) Clarification around requests from parents to access transport to 

school with pupils to attend meetings and the circumstances when 

this is and is not possible 

12. A number of stakeholder engagement sessions were held with parents, 
carers and professionals both prior to and during the consultation process. 
Further details of the consultation are outlined in section 16 below. 

 
13. As highlighted above, following a review of the feedback received during the 

consultation process, it was decided not to proceed with proposal b. To 
proceed with the request for a contribution from families towards Post 16 
transport for students with SEND would be detrimental to many families who 
are already struggling with other cost of living increases.  All other proposals 
are recommended for approval. 

 
OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
14. Option 1: Do nothing. This will mean that the existing policy, which is now 

outdated and does not provide as much information or clarity for families, 
will remain in place. 

 
15. Option 2: Approve the revisions to the Home to School Travel Assistance 

Policy detailed above with the exception of the request for a contribution 
towards Post 16 Transport for students with SEND (Proposal b).  
This is the recommended option 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED OPTION 
 
16. The publication of the new Home to School Travel Assistance Policy will 

provide improved guidance and clarity for parents and carers when 
assessing their home to school travel options.   

 
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL’S KEY OUTCOMES 
 
17.  

 Outcomes Implications  
 Doncaster Working: Our vision is for 

more people to be able to pursue their 
ambitions through work that gives 
them and Doncaster a brighter and 
prosperous future; 
 

 Better access to good fulfilling work 

 Doncaster businesses are 
supported to flourish 

  Inward Investment 
 

 

 Doncaster Living: Our vision is for 
Doncaster’s people to live in a 

 

Page 6



borough that is vibrant and full of 
opportunity, where people enjoy 
spending time; 
 

 The town centres are the beating 
heart of Doncaster 

 More people can live in a good 
quality, affordable home 

 Healthy and Vibrant Communities 
through Physical Activity and Sport 

 Everyone takes responsibility for 
keeping Doncaster Clean 

 Building on our cultural, artistic and 
sporting heritage 

 
 Doncaster Learning: Our vision is for 

learning that prepares all children, 
young people and adults for a life that 
is fulfilling; 
 

 Every child has life-changing 
learning experiences within and 
beyond school 

 Many more great teachers work in 
Doncaster Schools that are good or 
better 

 Learning in Doncaster prepares 
young people for the world of work  

The publication of a new 
Travel Assistance Policy will 
contribute towards these 
outcomes 
 

 Doncaster Caring: Our vision is for a 
borough that cares together for its 
most vulnerable residents; 
 

 Children have the best start in life 

 Vulnerable families and individuals 
have support from someone they 
trust 

 Older people can live well and 
independently in their own homes 

The publication of a new 
Travel Assistance Policy will 
contribute towards these 
outcomes 
 

 Connected Council:  

 A modern, efficient and flexible 
workforce 

 Modern, accessible customer 
interactions 

 Operating within our resources and 
delivering value for money 

 A co-ordinated, whole person, 
whole life focus on the needs and 
aspirations of residents 

 Building community resilience and 
self-reliance by connecting 
community assets and strengths 

 Working with our partners and 
residents to provide effective 

 

Page 7



leadership and governance  
 

 
 
RISKS AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
18. Whenever there is a change in policy there is a risk that decision could be 

challenged. Consequently, it is essential that adequate full consultation is 
undertaken to ensure that the process cannot be challenged only decision.  
A thorough consultation has taken place to mitigate this risk. 

 
19. There is a risk that the removal of bus passes issued on the basis of no 

additional cost could lead to an increase in appeals for assistance from 
families who may have previously benefited from this exception, or a drop in 
attendance by pupils.  Based upon the current number of passes issued this 
could impact upon an average of 20 families per year. It is very difficult to 
mitigate against this risk as families have the right to appeal if they wish 
their individual circumstances to be considered. 

 
20. There is a risk that the removal of bus passes issued following a house 

move could lead to an increase in appeals for assistance from families who 
may have previously benefited from this exception, or a drop in attendance 
by pupils.  Based upon the current number of passes issued this could 
impact upon an average of 7 families per year. It is very difficult to mitigate 
against this risk as families have the right to appeal if they wish their 
individual circumstances to be considered. 

 
21. There is a risk that the removal of bus passes issued to the catchment 

school where this is not the nearest school could lead to an increase in 
appeals for assistance from families who may have previously benefited 
from this exception, or a drop in attendance by pupils.  It is very difficult to 
mitigate against this risk as families have the right to appeal if they wish 
their individual circumstances to be considered. 

  
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  [ HMP Date: 03.03.22] 
 
22. There are a number of statutory duties with regard to school transport. 

Section 508A of the Education Act 1996 places a general duty on local 
authorities to promote the use of sustainable travel and transport. Sections 
508B and 508C of the Act make provision for local authorities to ensure that 
suitable travel arrangements are made, where necessary, to facilitate a 
child’s attendance at school. Section 508C of the Act provides local 
authorities with discretionary powers to go beyond their statutory duties and 
provide transport for children who are not entitled to free transport and 
charges can be made. Section 509AA of the Act 1996 obliges Local 
Authorities to prepare, for each academic year, a transport policy statement 
specifying the arrangements for the provision of transport or otherwise that it 
considers necessary to make for facilitating the attendance of persons of 
sixth form age receiving education or training. Section 508F of the 
Education Act 1996 requires Local Authorities’ to make such arrangements 
for the provision of free transport as they consider necessary (or as the 
Secretary of State may direct) for the purpose of facilitating the attendance 
of: 

 

Page 8

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/5-511-8389?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/0-511-8513?originationContext=document&transitionType=PLDocumentLink&contextData=(sc.Default)


 adults receiving education at an institution maintained or assisted by 
the LA and providing further or higher education or within the FE 
sector; 

 relevant young adults (adults aged under 25 with learning difficulties) 
receiving education or training at institutions outside both the further 
education and higher education sectors where the LA has secured 
the education or training and boarding accommodation under section 
514A. 

 
23. Any change to our transport policies may be challenged by Judicial Review. 

The High Court recently ruled in the case of Drexler, R (on the application 
of) v Leicestershire County Council [2019] EWHC 1934  in favour of  
Leicestershire County Council in a challenge by a 17-year-old, severely 
disabled girl over proposed changes to its school transport policies. The 
case confirms the importance of ensuring we comply with the processes 
before implementing changes, including consultation. 

 
24. The proposed changes are not services that we are legally required to 

provide and therefore their phased removal is legally justifiable. 
 
25. In order to comply with the general duty on Councils to act fairly, when the 

Council is considering revising a policy such as this that proposes to remove 
benefits that are or might be conferred on members of the public, it is 
essential that the Council formally consults with relevant stakeholders. In 
order to undertake a lawful consultation exercise, sufficient reasons must be 
put forward for the proposals to allow for intelligent consideration and 
response by the stakeholders; adequate time must be given for 
consideration and response; and the product of the consultation must now 
be consciously taken into account by elected members before a final 
decision is made on the proposals. A robust consultation exercise has been 
undertaken in this matter as detailed in paragraph 16 of this report. 

 
26. The decision maker must be aware of their obligations under section 149 

Equality Act 2010, the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED). It obliges public 
authorities, when exercising their functions, to have ‘due regard’ to the need 
to: 

 

a. Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimization and other 
conduct which the Act prohibits; 

b. Advance equality of opportunity; and 
c. Foster good relations between people who share relevant protected 

characteristics and those who do not.  
 
27. The relevant protected characteristics under the Equality Act are age, 

disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 
belief, sex and sexual orientation. The duty also covers marriage and civil 
partnerships, but only in respect of eliminating unlawful discrimination. The 
decision maker must ensure that they have seen the due regard statement. 
The duty must be exercised in substance, with rigour, and with an open 
mind and is not a question of ticking boxes. It is for the decision-maker to 
decide how much weight should be given to the various factors informing 
the decision, including how much weight should be given to the PSED itself. 
The duty is a continuing one and there should be a record/audit trail of how 
due regard has been shown. It is not sufficient for due regard to be a “rear-
guard action” following a concluded decision The decision maker must also 
pay regard to any countervailing factors and decide the weight to be given to 

Page 9

http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2019/1934.html
http://www.bailii.org/ew/cases/EWHC/Admin/2019/1934.html


these, which it is proper and reasonable to consider; budgetary pressures, 
economics and practical factors will often be important.  

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  [LS Date: 02/03/2022] 
 
28. If the exception under the current policy that provides zero fare bus passes 

to pupils move address within the Doncaster Area during years 10 and 11 is 
removed, then this would save £8k over 3 years, 2023/24 – 2025/26. 

 
29. If the exception under the current policy which provides zero fare bus 

passes to some pupils who have expressed a preference for a school other 
than their nearest available or allocated school and is no extra cost to the 
council is removed, then this will make a saving of £29k over 5 years, 
2023/24 – 2026/27. 

 
30. If a contribution from parents of pupils who attend Post 16 provision towards 

transport aged between 16 and 19 was introduced, then this would have 
saved £113k over 3 years 2022/23 – 2024/25, however it was decided not 
to proceed with this proposal at the current time. This proposal, along with 
the two above, were included in the Council’s Revenue Budget 2022/23 – 
2024/25 report approved by Full Council on 28th February 2022, therefore 
the service, in consultation with the portfolio holder, will need to look at 
alternative options to deliver the remaining saving target of £113k. 

  
HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS  [CR Date: 15/03/2022] 
 
31. There are no direct HR Imps in relation to this report, but if in future staff are 

affected or additional specialist resources are required then further 
consultation will need to take place with HR. 

 
TECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS [PW Date: 09/03/22] 
 
32. There are no technology implications in relation to this report.  The service 

has confirmed that there are no changes to the online form/application 
process. 

  
HEALTH IMPLICATIONS  [CW  Date: 02/03/2022] 

 
33. Pupils requiring specialist education provision have vulnerabilities that can 

often place them at a disadvantage with both educational and health 
outcomes. Programmes that aim to improve accessibility and attendance to 
education, and reduce the gap in educational attainment are likely to impact 
positively on reducing long-term health inequalities in Doncaster. It is 
reassuring that the new policy offers more clarity for parents of children 
requiring assisted transportation; however the decision to remove the option 
of bus passes in some cases could prove problematic. The author 
acknowledges this in the risk section; but other wider impacts to consider 
are the potential effects of increased vehicular traffic around the schools 
though carers being forced to drive their child to school; and the potential 
loss of freedom and independence of the child or young person. 

  
EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS  [KH   Date: 17/02/2022] 
 
34. The Council’s duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 when 

exercising its functions is to advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

Page 10



relations between those who have a protected characteristic and those who 
do not share that protected characteristic, ensure fair access to learning for 
all Doncaster children and young people. 

 
35. Due regard will be given to relevant and proportionate consideration to the 

duty, in that whenever significant decisions are being made or policies 
developed, consideration must (and will) be given to the impact/affect that 
implementing a particular policy or decision relating to this transfer will have 
in relation to equality before making that decision.  

 
36. The revised policy with provide greater clarity around the provision of travel  

Assistance.  This includes alternative travel assistance options to promote 
Independent travel training and enables families to consider the best options 
to meet their individual needs. 

 
37. There are no concerns around equality implications at the time of writing 

this report  
 
CONSULTATION 
 
38. There has been a significant amount of consultation undertaken in the 

development of the revised Home to School Travel Assistance Policy. The 
review of the existing ‘Home to School Transport’ Policy commenced in 
August 2021 with analysis and assessment of current policy provision. 

 
39. Four Pre-Consultation sessions were offered in November 2021 for families 

to talk about the future of ‘home-to-school’ transport for children with special 
educational needs and disabilities, and children accessing other provision.  
This provided the opportunity for early feedback on the proposed changes 
and also gave families the opportunity to discuss their views.  It also offered 
an insight into their experiences.  The discussions focused on: 

 

 The key areas proposed for change 

 The reasons behind the proposals 

 Any other suggestions for consideration 

 How to make this service more efficient whilst facing reducing budgets 

 

40. Whilst the sessions were predominantly aimed at parents and children who 
currently use home-to-school transport, there was also attendance from 
professionals to gain their views. This also demonstrated that the review is 
actively engaging with families and the overall response supported the need 
to review current provision and promote independent travel assistance and 
other options. 

 
41. Doncaster Council entered into a period of formal consultation on 29th 

November 2021.  This ran until 31st January 2022 (9 weeks) offering the 
opportunity for Doncaster residents to comment upon the proposed changes 
to the existing ‘Home to School Transport’ policy. The consultation focused 
mainly on: 

 

 A number of proposed service changes to the discretionary provision of 
bus passes 

 The suggestion for a contribution towards Post 16 – 19 SEND Transport 

 wording and content of the current policy,  

Page 11



 additional information and clearer wording to some of the key parts of the 
policy, 

 
Full details are provided in the Consultation document (Appendix 1A). 

 
42. To ensure that the widest possible audience was reached copies of the 

consultation document were issued to parents, carers & professionals who 
access transport services (including professionals, schools and other 
services both within the local authority and stakeholders in other 
authorities). This was also published on the Council’s Website for the 
duration of the consultation period with regular updates and reminders 
published on the website, letters to families and through Doncaster 
Council’s e-mail system via the Communications Team.  

 
43. Following a slow initial response rate a short form electronic survey was 

also introduced to enable people to comment on four key areas of the 
consultation.  Full details of this survey are included in the Survey Questions 
Document (Appendix 1B) 

 
44. To maximise the return rate, a number of different methods of response 

were made available.  These were:  
 

 Online – consultation documents available to complete and return 
digitally 

 E-mail – consultation documents / comments returned electronically. 

 Post – opportunity for printed consultation documents return by post or 
via Doncaster Council’s Family Hubs 

 Telephone contact with the Doncaster Council’s Transport Team 

 Face to Face – at an number of virtual events held via MS Teams 
 
45. The virtual events were offered throughout the consultation period and were 

open to all to attend. These events were regularly promoted through the 
consultation documents, regular posts Doncaster Council’s website and via 
schools. The events were offered on: 

 

 Friday 10th December at 10.00am 

 Tuesday 14th December at 6.00pm 

 Tuesday 11th January 2022 at 10.00am 

 Thursday 13th January 2022 at 6.00pm 

 Tuesday 18th January 2022 at 10.00am 

 Wednesday 19th January 2022 at 10.00am 

 Thursday 20th January 2022 at 6.00pm 
 
46. By the close of the formal consultation period (31st January 2022), 13 

consultation documents were completed and returned with an additional 80 
electronic surveys being completed. All of the 17 questions requiring 
comment in the full survey were completed with most receiving multiple 
responses. Full details of all relevant feedback received is provided in the 
Consultation Feedback Document (Appendix 2) 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

47. 

 Appendix 1a Consultation Document 

Page 12



 Appendix 1b Survey Questions 

 Appendix 2 Consultation Feedback 

 Appendix 3 Draft Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 2022-2027 

 Appendix 4 Home to School Transport Policy 2015 

 Appendix 5 Travel Assistance Policy Due Regard Statement 
 
 
GLOSSARY OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS  
 
48. None 
 
REPORT AUTHOR & CONTRIBUTORS 
 

Kim Holdridge, Service Manager, Travel Assistance Service 
01302 737219 Kim.holdridge@doncaster.gov.uk  

 
Riana Nelson 

Director of Learning, Opportunities and Skills 
 

Page 13

mailto:Kim.holdridge@doncaster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 

 

  

  

Home to School Transport Policy 

 

Formal Consultation 2021/22 

Page 15



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 

Home to School Transport Policy – Formal Consultation 2021/22 

From Monday 29th November 2021, Doncaster Council will be entering a period of 

consultation around proposed changes to our existing ‘Home to School Transport’ 

policy.  

This consultation document details the proposed changes and rationale for change 

which is open for public feedback for 9 weeks, closing on the 31st January 2022. The 

document has space for you to feedback on each proposed change. 

How to provide feedback 

There are a number of ways to provide feedback on the proposed changes to the 

Home to School Transport Policy 

 Online 

The consultation document is attached to this letter and is also available 

digitally at: www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport 

 

We are looking to arrange a number of virtual events to provide the 

opportunity to ask questions or give feedback directly.  These will take place 

on the following dates and times via MS Teams: 

 

1. Friday 10th December 10.00am -11.00am 

2. Tuesday 14th December 6.00pm to 7.00pm 

If you would like to attend one of these sessions then please e-mail 

transportconsultation@doncaster.gov.uk requesting your preferred date(s) 

and we will try to accommodate as many as possible. 

You can complete the feedback sections and return via email to 

transportconsultation@doncaster.gov.uk or; 

return your printed copy to any local Family Hub (a full list of Family Hubs is 

available at www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/family-hubs-and-

services). 

Face-to-Face 

We would like to also offer the opportunity for a face to face meetings to 

discuss these proposals further but are mindful of the ongoing Covid situation.  

We are monitoring this carefully and, if this does become possible in January, 

details will be added to the Council Website as follows: 

www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport 

If this is not possible additional virtual meeting dates will be added.   

Contact us 

If you have any questions or queries about the consultation, please contact the 

Transport Team on 01302 736081/736080 

Page 16

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport
mailto:transportconsultation@doncaster.gov.uk
mailto:transportconsultation@doncaster.gov.uk
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/family-hubs-and-services
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/family-hubs-and-services
http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport


APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

Home to School Transport Policy - Proposed Changes  

 Changing the name of the policy 

 The introduction of a monetary contribution towards the future provision of 

dedicated taxi and/or minibus transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (Special 

Educational Needs and Disabilities) pupils and students. 

 Removal of bus passes issued on the basis that no additional expenditure is 

incurred to the Council 

 Removal of bus passes issued to pupils whose families move house during 

Academic Years 10 and 11 

 Removal of  bus passes issued to pupils based on Catchment school if this is 

not the nearest school 

 Clearer wording around ‘compulsory leaving age’ and ‘participation age’ 

 Additional information regarding types of ‘travel assistance’ 

 Clearer wording around ‘dual registration’ 

 Additional information around occasions when we would not provide travel 

assistance 

 Clearer wording around dual custody arrangements 

 Additional information regarding criteria for suitable walking routes 

 Cross Referencing the ‘Post-16 Policy Statement’ 

 Clarification around excluded pupils and managed moves 

 Addition of information around travel assistance on medical grounds 

 Addition of information around parental choice of schools for pupils with 

SEND 

 Clarification around requests for parents to travel 

 

Changing the name of the policy 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We are proposing to change the name of 
this policy from ‘Home to School 
Transport Policy’ to ‘Home to School 
Travel Assistance Policy’ 

We feel that the name of the current 
‘Home to School Transport Policy’ 
doesn’t reflect the wide range of 
options around assistance that 
parent and carers can access to 
enable their children to get to and 
from school.  
 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 

 

 

The introduction of a monetary contribution towards the future provision of dedicated 

taxi and/or minibus transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (Special Educational Needs 

and Disabilities) pupils and students. 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We propose asking parents of pupils and 
students who attend Post 16 provision for a 
contribution towards Post 16 Transportation – 
specifically for those pupils and students aged 
between 16 and 19 who receive direct transport 
to school or college in a taxi or minibus paid for 
by the council.   
We are currently considering the equivalent 
cost of a single journey bus pass for pupils and 
students attending provision within Doncaster 
(or those at Dearne Valley College if this is 
closer than Doncaster College to their home).  
This would be around £294 per Academic Year 
We are also considering the equivalent cost of 
a double journey bus pass for those attending 
provision outside of Doncaster i.e. around £588 
per academic year. 
We are also looking into the possibility of 
payments by instalment if this proceeds. 
We would be interested to know if families 
would be willing to make a contribution and any 
other feedback and comments that they have in 
response to this proposal. 
We are also proposing that consideration is 
given to low income families’ ability to fund a 
full contribution with a possible reduced 
contribution 

There are a number of 
reasons for this proposal.  
 
 One is to align this Policy 
with that of the majority of 
our neighbouring authorities. 
  
Government spending cuts 
and increasing requests for 
assistance have also led to 
increased costs and a 
significant overspend of the 
funds available. We are 
trying to find a solution which 
means we can continue to 
offer the best service 
possible to all. 
 
 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 18



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

Removal of bus passes on the basis that no additional expenditure is incurred to the 

Council 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We propose removing the current clause 
within the ‘Home to School Transport’ policy 
which provides travel assistance under an 
exception for pupils not attending their nearest 
school or allocated school. 
 
These pupils are instead attending an 
alternative school which is the statutory 
qualifying distance.  On the basis that the 
Council does not incur any additional cost, a 
zero fare bus pass to enable the pupil to 
attend the alternative school is provided 
equivalent to that which the pupil would have 
received had they attended either the nearest 
or allocated, school as the case may be.   
 
We are suggesting the removal of this 
exception with effect from September 2023 for 
all pupils starting a new phase of education. 
Zero fare bus passes would no longer be 
provided. Pupils who receive assistance under 
this exception prior to September 2023 will 
continue to receive assistance until they finish 
their current phase of education (in most 
cases to the end of year 11) 

Changes to bus services and 
the removal of some services 
has made this increasingly 
contentious and difficult to 
administer. It is an exception 
and provides an added benefit 
to pupils based purely on 
where they live that others 
cannot benefit from.   
 
Additionally cuts in funding 
have led to a significant 
overspend of the funds 
available for Home to School 
Transport 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Removal of bus passes issued to pupils whose families move house during 

Academic Years 10 and 11 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We propose removing the current clause within the 
‘Home to School Transport’ policy which provides 
travel assistance under an exception for pupils who 

This is an exception which 
was originally introduced to 
assist pupils maintain 

Page 19



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

move house whilst during Academic Years 10 and 
11. 
 
We are suggesting the removal of this exception 
with effect from the publication date of the new 
Policy in 2022 for all pupils and we would no longer 
provide a zero fare bus pass after this date. Pupils 
who receive assistance under this exception prior to 
that date will continue to receive assistance until 
they finish their current phase of education (in most 
cases to the end of year 11) 

continuity during GCSE 
study.  However these 
studies often start much 
earlier than Year 10 now 
and this has led to an 
increase in requests which 
fall outside of the exception.  
Additionally the house 
move is often as a result of 
family choice. 
 
Additionally cuts in funding 
have led to a significant 
overspend of the funds 
available for Home to 
School Transport 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Removal of bus passes issued to pupils based on catchment school, if this is not the 

nearest school 
 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We propose removing the current requirement 
within the ‘Home to School Transport’ policy 
which provides travel assistance to pupils 
attending their catchment school.  In future 
this will state their nearest available school 
only, if they meet the distance criteria for 
eligibility. 
 
In future travel assistance would only be 
provided to pupils meeting the distance 
criteria to the nearest school/nearest school 
within the Doncaster Boundary. Zero Fare bus 
passes would no longer be provided to the 
catchment school if this is different to the 
nearest available school. 

 
In many cases the catchment 
school is also the nearest 
school but this is not always 
the case. 
 
The Catchment system is a 
model employed by schools, 
not by the Local Authority and 
most Local Authorities no 
longer recognise the 
catchment system. 
 
Removing reference to 
catchment from the Home to 

Page 20



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 
We are suggesting the removal of this 
phrasing with effect from September 2023 for 
all pupils starting a new phase of education. 
Zero fare bus passes would no longer be 
provided. Pupils who receive assistance under 
this exception prior to September 2023 will 
continue to receive assistance until they finish 
their current phase of education (in most 
cases to the end of year 11) 

School Transport Policy will 
bring the new policy in line 
with other authorities, whilst 
still adhering to our statutory 
responsibility. 
 
It is also an exception and 
provides an added benefit to 
pupils based purely on where 
they live as some families 
benefit from a choice of 
schools and others do not.   

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Clearer wording around ‘compulsory leaving age’ and ‘participation age’  

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR 
CHANGE 

Change the wording in the current policy around the 
‘compulsory school leaving age’ and the ‘participation age’ 
to read: 

 
 “In 2013 the Government raised the Participation Age 
meaning that all pupils and students must continue in some 
form of education or training until at least their 18th 
birthday. However there was no change made to the 
statutory school age which remains at 5 to 16 years.   

 
This change does not extend the entitlement to free travel 
assistance beyond the age of 16, as the change to the 
participation age does not mean that a pupils or students 
must stay in school. They may choose to work fulltime and 
study part time, continue with full time study at school or 
college, be involved in part time training whilst volunteering 
or undertake an apprenticeship.” 

In the existing policy, 
we talk about the 
impact of the raised 
‘participation age’ 
however we feel that 
the difference 
between this and the 
‘compulsory school 
leaving age’ is not 
clear for parents and 
carers. The 
clarification of the 
wording is needed to 
ensure readers are 
not confused by 
these terms 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 

Page 21



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Additional information regarding types of ‘travel assistance’  

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

Extend the existing 
section of the policy which 
details the various types 
of travel assistance 

We feel that the current information available for 
parents and carers doesn’t provide enough 
information about the wide range of options for 
travel assistance available for families, such as 
independent travel training, personal budgets and 
the option of mileage allowances in addition to 
transport options. This will allow parents and 
carers to make more informed choices that are 
better suited to their individual circumstances.  

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Clearer wording around ‘dual registration’ 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

Amend wording around ‘dual 
registration’ with the addition of the 
below section: 
 
“Some pupils may be registered at 
more than one school.  Where they 
are registered at two qualifying 
schools (which are not Pupil Referral 
Units or Alternative Provision), if 
eligible, travel assistance will be 

We feel that the current wording may 
cause confusion for parents around 
the support available for those children 
registered at two qualifying schools. 
 

Page 22



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

provided to whichever of the schools 
the pupil is attending on any school 
day. 
 
Travel assistance will not be provided 
for transfers between schools during 
the school day” 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Additional information around occasions when we would not provide travel 

assistance 

 

PROPOSED CHANGE REASON FOR CHANGE 

We would like to add further examples of the times 
when travel assistance will not be provided such as: 
 

 To access breakfast or after school clubs, 
including out of school activities 

 To and from work experience placements, 
taster or open days, or transition visits 

 To any provision off the school site 
organised by the school 

 For transfers between educational 
establishments during the school day 

 Following detention 

 At times to suit the convenience of family 
arrangements 

 At times when other siblings in the family 
have to be taken to other schools 

 For late arrivals or early departures, for 
example in the event of the pupil or student 
becoming ill 

 For shorter than normal days, for example 
during the exam season 

 For those whose level of attendance is a 
cause of concern, but for whom no eligibility 
criteria are met 

We feel that the new 
policy would benefit from 
having additional 
examples of when we 
are unable to provide 
travel assistance to 
ensure parents and 
carers have clear 
information and guidance 
to refer to. 
 

Page 23



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 For students on exchange visits 

 Where the behaviour of a young person is 
not acceptable to the driver of the vehicle 
and places other travellers a risk. In these 
circumstances parents will be required to 
make alternative arrangements.  

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Clearer wording around dual custody arrangements  

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Amend wording around ‘dual custody 
arrangements’ with the addition of the 
below section: 
 
“For pupils whose parents/carers no 
longer live at the same address and who 
qualify for travel assistance, this will 
normally be to the address at which the 
pupil spends three or more school nights 
(Sunday–Thursday). Assistance to both 
homes will not be provided. 
 
Where the pupil spends an equal amount 
of time during the school week at both 
addresses and they would qualify for 
assisted travel to school from both 
addresses, the Council will provide 
assistance from one address only and 
this will be the address where child 
benefit is paid to.” 

We feel that the current wording 
may not be clear enough for 
parents looking for information 
about travel assistance and dual 
custody arrangements, and requires 
additional clarification 
 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Additional information regarding criteria for suitable walking routes 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Amend wording regarding criteria for walking routes: 
 
“This is the shortest route along which a child, 
“accompanied as necessary”, may walk with 
reasonable safety and may include footpaths, 
bridleways and other pathways, as well as recognized 
roads.  
 
This means that a route will be available even if the 
child would need to be accompanied along it by his or 
her parent.  
 
The assessment of the availability or otherwise of a 
route will be based on a child being accompanied by an 
adult.  It will be irrelevant for the purposes of that 
assessment whether or not the child would or would not 
be so accompanied when attending the school or 
college. 
 
If the walking route, or alternative routes, to the school 
the pupil could reasonably be expected to take is/are 
not considered to be reasonably available even when 
accompanied by an adult, the Council will provide 
appropriate travel assistance which will normally be 
through the provision of a zero fare bus pass. 
 
Assessment of the comparative safety of a route will 
involve such factors as: 
 

 The age of the child; whether any potential risks 
might be mitigated if the child were accompanied 
by an adult 

 The width of any roads travelled along and the 
existence of pavements 

 The volume and speed of traffic travelling along 
any roads 

 The existence or otherwise of street lighting; and 
the condition of the route at different times of the 
year, at the times of day that a child would be 
expected to travel to and from school. “ 

We feel that the 
current wording may 
not be clear enough 
when detailing the 
factors that were 
considered for 
identifying suitable or 
unsuitable walking 
routes. 
 

Page 25



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 

 
 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cross referencing the ‘Post-16 Policy Statement’ 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

The addition of details regarding the 
‘Post-16 Policy Statement’ and where 
this is published 

We have a duty to publish the 
contents of the post-16 policy 
statement by the end of May each 
year. Providing a sign post to this 
within the ‘home to school travel 
assistance policy’ will assist 
parents/carers with decisions 
regarding Post 16 Education 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Clarification around excluded pupils and managed moves 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Amendment of the section of the 
policy which provides travel 
assistance information related to 
excluded pupils and managed moves 

We feel we need to provide clearer 
information in this policy around the 
circumstances for excluded pupils, 
including when they will or will not 
receive travel assistance and 
confirming the council’s approach with 
regards to managed moves  

Page 26



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Addition of information around travel assistance on medical grounds 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Addition of information for parents and 
carers around how they can apply for 
travel assistance on medical grounds 
where appropriate and details of the 
process around this 
 
 
 

The current policy does not hold this 
information and we feel that parents 
and carers would find this information 
beneficial when considering their 
options for travel assistance. 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Addition of information around parental choice of schools for pupils with SEND 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Addition of information for parents and 
carers around parental preference of 
schools for pupils with SEND to 
include: 
 
“Travel assistance will not be provided 
under this section where the Council 
has identified an institution or provider 
to meet a pupil or student’s need but 

We feel we need to provide clearer 
information in this policy around the 
council’s approach regarding parents 
who prefer to send their child/children 
to an alternative education provider, to 
ensure they have clear guidance to 
make an informed choice. 

Page 27



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

the parents/carers choose to send 
their child to a more distant institution 
or provider of the same type. If the 
parents prefer the school or college 
that is further away, the Council may 
agree to name this provider in the 
Education Health and care Plan 
(EHCP) but parents/carers will need to 
provide transport themselves" 
 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Clarification around requests for parents to travel 

 

Proposed change Reason for change 

Addition of information around 
requests for parents to travel 

We feel we need to provide additional 
clarification around circumstances 
when requests for parents might be 
agreed 

 
FEEDBACK/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 28



APPENDIX 1A 
 
 

ADDITIONAL FEEDBACK AND COMMENTS 

 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1B 

 

 

Survey Narrative and Questions 

 

Home to School Transport Policy Consultation 

 

Doncaster Council has entered a period of consultation around proposed changes to our 

existing ‘Home to School Transport’ policy and we would now appreciate any feedback you 

would like to provide on our proposed changes. 

 

In order to make this process as easy as possible we have created the attached survey 

which covers four of the key proposals and we would be grateful if you would take a few 

minutes to complete this so that we receive as many responses to our proposals as 

possible. The Consultation is open until Monday 31st January 2022. 

 

If you would like the opportunity to review our other proposals or comment in more detail on 

our the ones in this survey  then a copy of the full consultation and how to respond can be 

found on the Council Website at:   

www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport  

 

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey. 

 

Proposal 1 

We propose asking parents of pupils and students aged between 16 and 19 who require 

additional assistance due to their individual needs and receive direct transport to school or 

college in a taxi or minibus paid for by the council for a contribution towards the cost of this.  

 

We are currently considering the equivalent cost of a single journey bus pass for pupils and 

students attending provision within Doncaster (or those at Dearne Valley College if this is 

closer than Doncaster College to their home).  This would be around £294 per Academic 

Year. We are also considering the equivalent cost of a double journey bus pass for those 

attending provision outside of Doncaster i.e. around £588 per academic year. 

 

We are also looking into the possibility of payments by instalment if this proceeds. 

We would be interested to know if families would be willing to make a contribution and any 

other feedback and comments that they have in response to this proposal. 

We are also proposing that consideration is given to low income families’ ability to fund a full 

contribution with a possible reduced contribution 

 

1. Do you agree with asking for a contribution    Y/N 

 

2. Do you think the proposed  level of contribution is reasonable      Y/N 

 

3. Do you think a higher cost for a longer journey is reasonable  Y/N 

 

4. Do you think a reduction for low income families is reasonable  Y/N 

 

5. What would be a reasonable adjustment 

 

a. 25% 

b. 50% 

Page 31

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/education-transport


APPENDIX 1B 

c. 75% 

d. It should be free for low income families 

 

Proposal 2 

We currently provide travel assistance under an exception in the policy for some pupils not 

attending their nearest school or allocated school on the basis that the Council does not 

incur any additional cost to that which it would have paid of the pupil attended either the 

nearest or allocated, school as the case may be.  This provides additional choice for some 

families based on where they live 

 

We are suggesting the removal of this exception with effect from September 2023 for all 

pupils starting a new phase of education. Pupils who receive assistance under this exception 

prior to September 2023 will continue to receive assistance until they finish their current 

phase of education (in most cases to the end of year 11) 

 

6. Do you feel that this exception should be removed   Y/N 

 

7. If yes why 

e. To make things fair for everyone 

f. To prioritise Council spending  

g. Other 

 

If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

8. If no, why 

a. This would incur extra cost to families when the cost of living is already high 

b. Pupils should receive free travel to school if they meet the distance criteria 

c. Other 

 

 If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

Proposal 3 

We currently provide travel assistance under an exception for pupils who move house during 

Academic Years 10 and 11 provided that they meet the distance criteria.  

 

We are suggesting the removal of this exception with effect from the publication date of the 

new Policy in 2022 for all pupils and we would no longer provide a zero fare bus pass after 

this date. Pupils who receive assistance under this exception prior to that date will continue 

to receive assistance until they finish their current phase of education (in most cases to the 

end of year 11) 

 

9. Do you feel that this exception should be removed   Y/N 

 

10. If yes why 

a. Because they have chosen to move 

b. To make things fair for everyone 

c. Other 

Page 32



APPENDIX 1B 

 

If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

11. If no, why 

a. They may not have had a choice when moving house 

b. It may mean that pupils have to move schools if they cannot afford the bus fare 

c. Other 

 

If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

Proposal 4 

We currently provide travel assistance to pupils attending their catchment school/nearest 

school.  This provides additional choice for some families based on where they live. We are 

proposing that this will state their nearest available school only, if they meet the distance 

criteria for eligibility. 

 

In future travel assistance would only be provided to pupils meeting the distance criteria to 

the nearest school/nearest school within the Doncaster Boundary. Zero Fare bus passes 

would no longer be provided to the catchment school if this is different to the nearest 

available school. 

 

We are suggesting the removal of this phrasing with effect from September 2023 for all 

pupils starting a new phase of education. Zero fare bus passes would no longer be provided. 

Pupils who receive assistance under this exception prior to September 2023 will continue to 

receive assistance until they finish their current phase of education (in most cases to the end 

of year 11) 

 

12. Do you feel that this exception should be removed   Y/N 

 

13. If yes why 

a. To make things fair for everyone 

b. To help prioritise Council spending 

c. Other 

 

If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

14. If no, why 

a. This would incur extra cost to families when the cost of living is already high 

b. Pupils should receive free travel if they meet the distance criteria 

c. Other 

 

If you have chosen other please tell us why 

 
 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



  APPENDIX 2  
 

 

  

Home to School Transport Policy 

 

Consultation Feedback 2021/22 

Page 35



 

Home to School Transport Policy – Consultation 2021/2022 

A key part of the consideration of a new Home to School Transport Policy was the 

need for Consultation.  This consultation was undertaken in a number of ways, both 

prior to and during the formal consultation process and comprised: 

 Five Pre-Consultation Events (including one session with Doncaster Parents 

Voice) – comments and feedback are included in Section 1 

 Seven Formal Consultation Events – comments and feedback are included in 

Section 2 

 A formal Consultation Document for people to complete and return – 

comments and feedback are included in Section 3 

 A short form survey with several questions on the key proposals within the 

Consultation Document – comments and feedback are included in Section 4 

 Several one to one telephone conversations when requested – comments and 

feedback are included in Section 5 

 

Section 1 – Pre-Consultation Events 
A number of pre-consultation events were held to gauge initial reactions to the key 

proposals for change and to receive overall comment and suggestions to support the 

development of the Home to School Transport Policy. The outcome and feedback of 

these events are as follows: 

 

Request for a contribution towards the future provision of dedicated taxi and/or 
minibus transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (SEND) pupils and students. 

 

Education is compulsory for children up to 18 years so why do we need to start paying for 
this? 

Unfair to ask for a contribution for travel costs when they have no choice and need to 
attend Education. 

I am a working parent and would be concerned over more additional costs - because of 
work, I am unable to take my child to college and need this support. 

Currently child travels approx. 50miles in one day - what would happen if needed to travel 
further to college? 

Certainly appreciate and respect peoples circumstances are different but to pay a 
contribution for travel when in employment is Unfair. 

If a contribution is approved, this will effect 'Parents Choice' of Post 16 provision to access 
the correct provision to meet the needs of the child. This will disadvantage parents & 
children in having to choose a closer school / college.  

Will need to limit the distance from home to college to limit the cost required. 

Is this the correct place to save money? If a great amount is not saved, is it worth the 
unfairness and upset to do this? 

Group Consensus: No contribution to Post 16-19 should be required across the board !! 
Impact children in the future. 

How much do other Authorities charge parents as a contribution for their child's travel? 

One solution will not suit everybody !! 

How will the contribution be calculated as this needs an explanation - will it be measured 
in Distance / Mileage etc.? 

Page 36



Provide greater Independent Travel Training opportunities (pending needs of the child) to 
build confidence at Post 16 level to use public transport & reduce the need of arranged 
minibus / taxis. 

What is the expected amount which will be charged to parents as a contribution - detail to 
be made clear. 

Exceptions to the proposed contribution policy need to be confirmed - more detail 
required. 

Confirmation required to what Settings, Colleges and Universities will be impacted by this 
policy - will it be for Doncaster settings only or include Out of Area provision? (Needs to be 
clear). 

Building aspirations for college students with SEND within the college setting is very 
limited and would struggle with ITT if offered - feel it’s too late stage of their education as 
should be started at a much younger age both in Mainstream and SEND settings. 

A contribution would be considered to ensure transportation of children - appreciate 
funding reductions from the Council. 

Impact on children's / families choice of college provision to meet the needs of the child 
due to cost implications. 

 

Removal of the clause which currently provides bus passes on the basis of parental 
preference in certain situations. 

 
This policy suggestion is activated by parental choice. 

Be clear this refers to Zero Fare Passes and not any other pass a child or student may 
have and use. 

 

To no longer provide bus passes to pupils whose families move house during 
Academic Years 10 or 11 

 
This policy suggestion is activated by parental choice. 

Be clear this refers to Zero Fare Passes and not any other pass a child or student may 
have and use. 

 

Additional Comments and Suggestions 
 

Central coordination travel task: To establish the use of one minibus to pick up from one 
locality and drop off at other colleges instead of covering numerous localities for one 
college – potential to reduce costs 

Would it be more effective and beneficial to pick-up / drop-off children at other schools on 
the same transport to one locality area instead of a number of buses arriving together in 
the same area locality to transport just to one school? Utilise school minibus fleets to do 
this 

Policy changes will effect children in years to come. Confirmation when new Policy will be 
implemented would be beneficial to confirm (maybe include proposed date within 
consultation documentation?) 

Keep parents & guardians informed throughout the overall process. 

Advertising campaign to promote ALL current travel passes available for children & 
students !! 

ITT in place at Stone Hill which is a great service from the school as child's independence 
and awareness has improved. This should be offered to SEND children with secondary 
mainstream schools to support their independence as unaware this is being offered on a 
regular and sustained basis within schools (recommended Y7 onwards). Early Intervention 
will improve child's confidence / independence over time reducing the need for arranged 
transport therefore reduced costs? 

Page 37



Work more closely in partnership with other agencies and services to provide support and 
advice as required. Example: Promote ITT and work closely with service who supply Free 
Bus Passes for Disabilities. 

 

Section 2 – Formal Consultation Events 
As part of the formal consultation two initial virtual events took place in December 

2021 to seek further views on the Council’s proposals.  A further five events were 

planned for January 2022.  One of these was subsequently cancelled as no one 

registered to attend but four others took place.  Whilst face to face meetings had 

been considered, due to the ongoing Covid situation it was decided to continue to 

hold these events virtually. The outcome and feedback of these events are as 

follows: 

 

Request for a contribution towards the future provision of dedicated taxi and/or 
minibus transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (SEND) pupils and students. 

 

Children which are placed by local authorities are entitled to free travel assistance if they 
are 3 or more miles away from the place of education 

Reductions will be made to help people receiving universal credit or free school meals. 

If my son is already in post 16 education and travel assistance is already in place will then 
this will continue as normal however, this may change when the child turns 18 yrs old and 
further advise will be required at that time 

What happens if a parent can’t or won’t pay the contribution for transport? 

There are no more than 100 post 16 students is this going to affect at a cost of circa £30K 
to £40K 

Comments received around the benefits which should be used for reduction in costs. 
Should not use working tax credit but other benefits 

Do not agree with this charge as it will hit the wrong families. Lots of families struggling at 
present 

It will mean less money to spend on my son 

I would have like the closer school where he could walk but that school cannot meet need 
so needs to go further away 

Local school is not a choice and SEND is not a choice 

We have to battle for services 

Children might not go to post 16 if parents cannot afford transport 

Could the mobility component of DLA be used towards transport 

Family Allowance and other benefits stop at 18 –lose a lot of income 

These children are still catching up at 16 and learning what others do at 8 or 9. Need more 
help in early adulthood 

Think that we should promote independence more 

Children need more support in later years rather than earlier years 

Need more resources working together 

We are struggling on universal credit.  Husband works but I cannot as I need to be a carer 
for my children 

Many families are on lower incomes or part time as they need to be at home when child 
gets home due to needs 

Children have not chosen to be born with disabilities. They don’t have the same options of 
sharing lifts with friends  

Need to look at taxing everyone.  Adult Social Care element is in Council Tax Bill, why not 
childrens 

Taxi firms are invaluable to us 

Parents of children with SEND are more likely to be carers 

Page 38



Should be means tested. Lowest income should not pay anything 

These children have an EHCP for a reason 

Last thing anyone needs is more financial worry 

Shocked by the suggestion, these are the most vulnerable students 

If that is what is needed we would have to pay but hopefully will reconsider 

 

Removal of the clause which currently provides bus passes on the basis of parental 
preference in certain situations. 

 
Which bus passes might be removed. Daughter has a disability pass 

 

To no longer provide bus passes to pupils whose families move house during 
Academic Years 10 or 11 

 
No comments made 

 

Removal of  bus passes issued to pupils based on Catchment school if this is not 
the nearest school 

 

No comments made 

 

Additional Comments and Suggestions 

 
Transport for medical placements will be arranged however if its arranged between 2 

schools then it becomes the responsibility of the schools to make their own arrangements. 

 

Section 3 – Formal Consultation Document Responses 
Thirteen responses were received to the full consultation and the feedback to each 

individual suggestion was as follows: 

 

1. Changing the name of the policy: (3 comments received) 

 
I have no objection to this change of name to the policy. 

No Comment seems reasonable  

We do not mind the change of name at all. The contents of the policy and provision are of 
greater importance to us. 

 

2. The introduction of a monetary contribution towards the future provision of 
dedicated taxi and/or minibus transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities) pupils and students: (10 comments received) 

 
Where do you expect us to find the £294 from?  X is still in full time education until he is 
19 as there is no alternative available, to suit X’s needs.  All special education children are 
different and it is unfair to put all post 16 Special Education children in the same box one 
cap does not fit all!. 

I do not agree with this proposal due to the negative financial impact this will have on my 
family. This is almost £50 per month for us which is just not financially viable and will push 
us into hardship. We work full time and get a small amount of universal credit to top up our 
pay. 
My son attends an out of area specialist school because it is the nearest that can meet his 
specific needs. We have never been offered anything closer so I feel it is unfair that we 

Page 39



should have the financial burden of the council failing to provide appropriate schooling in 
area. 
My son is doing 3 years post 16 at his school. He has no option to go to college because it 
cannot meet his needs. He cannot work because he has no qualifications. The only way 
he can get qualifications is to remain at school and do his qualifications over 3 years. I do 
not feel that it is fair that we are financially punished because my son needs extra time to 
achieve what mainstream children can achieve by year 11. It is not anybody’s fault that he 
needs to stay in school, it is nature of his SEN.  
I do not feel that it is fair that we will be charged more than children who are transported 
within the Borough. I would feel that it would be fairer if we were charged the same as 
children attending post in Doncaster. 
This charge is totally related to my son’s disability. If he did not have his disability, we 
would not be faced with these charges because he would not need to be transported to an 
out of area special school.  

I’m emailing my feedback on the proposed changes to the policy. I.e. monetary 
contributions  
Wow !!!! is all I can say, my son has attended north Lindsey college from 15 on an early 
entry as NO school in Doncaster could meet his needs he has a Ehcp and was massively 
failed by his secondary school he has remained post 16  as it’s been very successful and 
is now happy and educated. The SEN also felt this was the best place to remain because 
of how successful it is. so according to the proposal because he is in a out of area 
provision that was the only one that could meet needs we would have to contribute around 
double £588 to continue there. How is that Fair? When a place in Doncaster wasn’t an 
option?!. We are highly concerned, as you can also appreciate money is extremely tight 
and if my son could travel and was capable to do so he would. Obviously to Scunthorpe 
there isn’t any other means to get there as buses don’t run and the train station is to far 
away for him to safely arrive due to his Autism. My other concern is also his sister also 
SEN and has EHCP currently isn’t accessing a school as her Sen school that was in 
Rotherham (also out of area) announced they couldn’t meet her need any longer, so 
consultations out of area are also been done again and this will likely mean she will ALSO 
be out of area again as a Doncaster school isn’t an option. So Approx. £588 per child! I 
appreciate other local authorities do charge for travel but they also have a lot more SEN 
schools to choose from to remaining inside the local authority. 
Unfortunately we do not class as low income as £20 thousand a year take home is too 
much but to pay Over £1000 to pay towards taxi will financial hit us were unfortunately the 
like hood is my son wouldn't be able to continue when a place on Doncaster wasn’t and 
isn’t a option! And my daughter well this will definitely put additional pressure when 
NOTHING in Doncaster is an option!. 
 
So How Is this remotely Fair when a school in Doncaster wasn’t an option? And How on 
earth are we going to afford over £1000 ?!  
This is deeply distressing when all factors were out of my parental control as to were my 
children accessed a successful education, as local authority COULDN’T provide one in 
the area. So we had to seek the best one and in fact  North Lindsey was the closest one 
available,  Barnsley and worksop was suggested. 
I will be Waiting anxiously to see what happens with this proposal as money aside my 
children  deserves an education, and due to Doncaster not having a place to meet need, 
we as parents should not be financially hit to ensure they are successful in achieving one.  
 

I do not agree with the introduction of asking parents for a contribution to the costs of 
travel to a further education establishment. 
My child is unable to travel safely alone on public transport, where she could use her bus 
pass.  She needs someone to go with her to safeguard her, as like many others at her 
school she is vulnerable, she has SEND. 
I do not like the idea of the provision of a taxi - but would consider this as a last resort. 

Page 40



She is due to attend college shortly so this proposal will affect us. 
As most colleges are now academies and so not under council support, surely in their 
privately sourced budgets funding would become available for transport and not solely rely 
on the council to supply this request? 

Agreed - ESFA do provide 6th form Bursary funding which could be used to cover travel 
costs of those post 16 students that meet the criteria for a bursary – the  bursaries are to 
cover specific financial barriers to participation including travel  

I don’t agree that SEN students should be charged in line with comparison to their non-
SEN peers ability to travel to school as this strikes me as further discrimination and 
incompetent comparison. Like for like just does not work for several reasons - SEN 
students are far less likely to have achieved similar levels of qualification and 
independence at 16 than their mainstream peers and therefore post-16, while no longer 
compulsory, is likely to be far more essential to those with SEND. In terms of their travel 
ability, walking even supervised is rarely an option (due to physical and mental issues and 
dangers outdoors), again unlike their peers who would not necessarily need to spend on 
their post-16 transport. And at the very least would be doing so independently if transport 
if chosen to be used. The cost to a family of helping an SEND child to attend school is far 
greater as it is not simple the cost of the child themselves. And by cost I don’t just mean 
financial, there is the time and therefore loss of income of the person supporting that child 
to/from school too. If you were to consider the saving that is making to the council in paid 
carer support, then to ask for a further monetary contribution is pretty damn unfair. It also 
doesn’t consider the health of the parent/carer and their ability to walk or accompany a 
child. Most parents/carer are physically and mentally broken enough. In theory, yes, there 
should be relevant respite and other support systems in place across other council 
departments but as we all know, this is not happening and anything offered doesn’t 
remotely bridge the gap. 
 
In addition, the idea that those travelling outside of area should be charged more is 
outrageous. Parents do not choose for their child to travel further every day on a whim. 
The extra journey in itself can be stressful so this is only considered by a parent when 
there is no other option for that child. You note that the SEND department may identify a 
local school that can meet need for that child and it is the parents ‘choice’ to attend further 
afield but we all know what nonsense that is - the SEND system is totally broken and 
provision is ineffective and unavailable to meet the needs of so many children with SEND. 
No child should be shoved somewhere because it is convenient for the council’s budget. 
To charge parents extra is further penalising them for the lack of provision within the 
authority area. Parents often have to pay ridiculous sums of money for legal help and 
external professionals to get the right provision for their child and disprove the SEN 
departments manipulation and lies. To then charge them double to get there is a 
disgraceful idea and discriminatory 

It seems unfair to penalise 16-19 year olds who are still accessing education, in a manner 
which does not apply to under 16s. We should be supporting children with SEN/D who are 
continuing to engage with education and training, not making this more financially 
challenging for their families.  
There has educationally been a big shift in supporting young people with SEN/D to gain 
employment and be better prepared for adulthood and this particular proposal would 
present a clear barrier to this. I feel this would be ethically questionable. 

This is heartbreaking to read. My child is in a post 16 placement, however he is not at that 
level emotionally or intellectually. My son does not qualify for any extra money or benefit 
from the government once he turned 16. It his not his fault or his parents that he is unable 
to go to the nearest post 16 provision (which is on the street he lives on) yet he would 
have to pay out to get to one of the only provision available to him. If this amendment went 
ahead many parents including myself would find it extremely difficult to pay this out. I am 
already financially impacted due to my son’s special needs as I have had to significantly 

Page 41



reduce my work hours in order to care for him. I would not be classed as a low income 
family, but this does not mean I could just find an extra £300 a year for my son’s transport. 
Once again it’s children with disabilities and there parents that are being penalized 
because local schools are not providing appropriate provisions for their special needs. 

 

 

3. Removal of bus passes issued on the basis that no additional expenditure is 
incurred to the Council: (3 comments received) 

 
Surely when a school place was originally allocated to a pupil it was under the grounds of 
the school being the nearest to where the pupil lived? 
I am supportive of children walking 2 miles to school, as this will address the obesity issue 
in Doncaster – unless it is unsafe for a child to do so, such as SEND. 

Agreed – this is integral to ensuring where possible pupils attend their catchment school. 
Pupils should not receive free transport if they are attending schools out of area   

SYMCA support the removal of discretionary spend so that these discretionary/”at no 
additional cost” Zoom Zero passes are not issued as a result of changes in the 
commercial bus market that create a legacy issue and pressures on home+D9 to school 
transport budgets. 

 

 

4. Removal of bus passes issued to pupils whose families move house during 
Academic Years 10 and 11: (4 comments received) 

 
I agree with this change, as this is from the perspective of choice/want not need, the only 
exception should be if the move was the keep the child safe under safeguarding if 
domestic abuse was the reason for the house/dwelling move. 

Agreed 

Where moving house is by the choice of the parents, this seems reasonable. I would like 
to think that cases could be put together where families have to move for reasons beyond 
their choice however. 

Surely their should be a clause in this that if they have to move and are unable to start at a 
new school until the start of a new term/school year dependant on the school’s policy. 

 

 

5. Removal of  bus passes issued to pupils based on Catchment school if this is not 
the nearest school: (3 comments received) 

 
I agree with this. 
Agreed – It is sensible that pupils should attend their nearest school and that funding 
should be removed for travel to schools further away irrespective of catchment. 

SYMCA would like to discuss the implications of this in more detail including the 
implications for the transition period.  Details of how “nearest” will be measured and if this 
is crow flies or using the road network (ITN). 

 

 

6. Clearer wording around ‘compulsory leaving age’ and ‘participation age’:  
(4 comments received) 

 
Surely this should be reviewed case by case and not a blanket change? i.e. every child is 
different and have different needs.  X for example, there was no choice for him other than 

Page 42



him to stay in full time education until he is 19.  Therefore X’s school leaving age should 
be officially 19. 

While the child is in further education – especially with regard to SEND then transport 
should be provided – free – if it is unsafe for the child to travel independently. 
If the child was in an apprenticeship or work placement and therefore earning a wage then 
I would expect them to pay towards their travel, but not whilst a full time student. 

Agreed 

SYMCA would like to continue dialogue on home to school transport for Y12 and Y13 
where they continue at the same establishment and use funded/commercial dedicated 
home to school buses.  Capacity is provided for these students currently but they fall 
outside of the available funding. 

 

 

7. Additional information regarding types of ‘travel assistance’:  
(2 comments received) 

 
Mileage allowance? 

SYMCA anticipates that parents’ need for information will not stop at the scope of DMBC’s 
provision of travel assistance. Concessionary fares and commercial public transport ticket 
products are likely to be relevant to parents’ and students’ decision-making. SYMCA 
would expect to be involved in discussions with DMBC as to how best parents and 
students can be informed about their options.  

 

 

8. Clearer wording around ‘dual registration’: (3 comments received) 

 
I agree transfers between schools should not be funded during the school day. 

Yes agreed schools should pay any costs of transporting pupils to alternative provision 

SYMCA are not aware that the volume of Zoom Zero passes issued for dual registration 
generates additional costs for SYMCA home to school services but would like to 
understand any risks associated with this and additional transport provision that may be 
required. 

 

 

9. Additional information around occasions when we would not provide travel 
assistance: (4 comments received) 

 
I agree with this.  Breakfast clubs and after school clubs are again a ‘choice’ and therefore 
should be funded by parents, but not essential going to and from school which is 
mandatory, which I feel should be funded. 

Yes agreed 

SYMCA would recommend that additional specifics are added 
• Shorter than normal days where the school closes early – for example at the end of term 
• Where there is a temporary change in the school day, such as for Covid-19, and 
additional funding from central government is not provided 
• Where industrial action results in local bus services or dedicated school buses not 
operating.  

These kind of examples should be within the policy. The last point in particular should be 
clearly presented to ensure continued safety for the drivers and passengers, with no ‘grey 
areas’. 

 

 

Page 43



10. Clearer wording around dual custody arrangements: (3 comments received) 

 
X is in shared care, between ourselves and the Local Authority, therefore he has two 
address’s and needs to be picked up/dropped off by school transport at both these 
address’s for the consistency of X’s well being. 
 
If this change is implicated, it will have a massive impact on my ability to work.  We will be 
forced to either put X into full time care before we are ready to do so, or I will be forced to 
pack my job in, creating bigger financial implications and stress. 
 
Again these proposed changes appear to be blanket changes and need to be reviewed on 
a case by case basis, every Special Education receiving child will have different needs 
and requirements and it is very unfair to implement a one cap fits all change, like you are 
proposing. 
 
This is causing unnecessary stress for us as a family, when life is hard enough with a 
severely disabled child 

I agree with this.  Wherever the child spends the most nights should be the prominent 
address.  If the custody is 50/50 split then the payments should be halved to each parent 
to make it fair. 

Agreed 

 

 

11. Additional information regarding criteria for suitable walking routes:  
(2 comments received) 

 
I feel unable to comment on this section, as my daughter is unable to walk far, so this 
suggestion doesn’t really apply to us. 

Yes agreed 

 

 

12. Cross Referencing the ‘Post-16 Policy Statement’: (1 comment received) 

 
I look forward to reading this. 

 

 

13. Clarification around excluded pupils and managed moves: 
(1 comment received) 

 
If a child is excluded then the responsibility of collecting that child safely from school and 
its return should fall under the responsibility of the parents and not the school/council. 
This may assist the school on working with the parents on why the child was excluded in 
the first place.  This then places onus on the parent (s) to take responsibility for the child’s 
absence and (hopefully) address the behaviour that instigated the exclusion in the first 
instance. 

 

 

14. Addition of information around travel assistance on medical grounds:  
(1 comment received) 

 
I agree with this. 

 

Page 44



 

15. Addition of information around parental choice of schools for pupils with SEND: 
(4 comments received) 

 
I agree with this.  It comes back to my earlier comment about a child attending the nearest 
school – unless the places were full and an alternative catchment area was offered – but 
not at the suggestion of the parent’s sole preference of a choice of school. 

This is a disgusting idea. Parents do not choose a school for their child on a whim from a 
plethora of suitable options. Sadly the SEND department is totally broken at best and 
corrupt at worse. The reality is that parents (who know their child best) have a long, 
exhausting and stressful time finding a school for their child in which they feel they have 
the best chance of thriving. It is so common for the SEN department to name a school for 
a child that is completely inappropriate and would actually do their child damage 
emotionally or educationally, just because they have no other options. Even in the face of 
advice from external professionals, the council will take parents to tribunal and submit 
them to horrendous trauma and mind games (as well as massive financial outlay for the 
parents) in order to avoid admitting that their provision is not acceptable.  
 
When parents are finally able to get funding the placement for what is in reality the only 
suitable placement for their child, to refuse to transport that child to school is nothing short 
of disgusting. It is nothing less than looking for another loophole to save money in an 
already corrupt system with one team’s corruption supporting another team (yours) money 
saving attempts. At the end of all of this is a child and a very vulnerable one at that. They 
are usually also surrounded by a very broken family - broken not by their child but by ‘the 
system’ and you are then asking them, yet again, to mitigate for the council’s shortfall in 
money.  
 
The cost to a family of helping an SEND child get to school is far greater as it is not simply 
the cost of the child’s transport themselves. And by cost I don’t just mean financial, there 
is the time and therefore loss of income of the person supporting that child to/from school 
too. If you were to consider the saving that is making to the council in paid carer support, 
then to ask for a further monetary contribution is pretty damn unfair. It also doesn’t 
consider the health of the parent/carer and their ability to walk or accompany a child. Most 
parents/carer are physically and mentally broken enough. In theory, yes, there should be 
relevant respite and other support systems in place across other council departments but 
as we all know, this is not happening and anything offered doesn’t remotely bridge the gap 

School allocations for children with SEND should be focused on the best meeting of needs 
for the child, not proximity. Provision and facilities across schools varies greatly and where 
children have an SEN Support Plan or an EHCP they have been identified as having 
challenges beyond that of their typical peers. 
Legislation supports that reasonable adjustments should be made to ensure that children 
with SEN/ D should not be put at a disadvantage to their peers and accessing a school 
with suitable facilities and resources should be seen as the most basic way of supporting 
access. 
I understand that budgets can be challenging, but the best way to support the 
development of children and young people with SEND is to ensure they can access the 
best suited provision to meet their needs (without causing financial stress to families), not 
simply the setting which is most convenient for the Local Authority. 

 

 

16. Clarification around requests for parents to travel: (2 comments received) 

 
Surely, this should come down to an agreement between the school and the parents? 

Page 45



SYMCA will continue to allow parents to travel on dedicated home to school services 
where there is capacity and the relevant fare is paid.  Travel at times other than for the 
school movement of the child will not be provided. 

 

 

17. Additional Comments and Suggestions: (6 comments received) 

 
These proposed changes to School Transport feel like a simple money saving exercise at 
the expense of the already stressed and pressured parents of the children with Special 
Education needs.  Surely it would be better to maintain the current transport policies rather 
than risk the additional cost of parents of children with special education needs having no 
choice and being pushed into placing there children into full time care, as they feel there 
will be no alternative if these changes come into places.  Lots of parents rely on receiving 
respite to help them manage there children at home.  If transport will no longer take there 
children to respite as well as home, this will add unnecessary stress and strain on the 
families.  As I have previously stated these blanket changes will not work and needs to be 
done on a case by case basis.   

I hope I have answered the questions as truthfully as I can. 
If you would like further clarification on the reasons for the answers, I have supplied then 
please do not hesitate to contact me. 

In relation to the Home to School Transport consultation we would like to put on record our 
agreement of all proposals put forward. We are particularly glad to see that you are 
proposing to remove any travel assistance to pupils attending their catchment school 
where this is not the nearest school to where they live. We agree that travel assistance 
should only be provided where distance criteria is met for attending your nearest school.  
 
This proposed change should hopefully encourage parents to choose schools close to 
where they live.  

Due to my maternity leave, we are selling one car. Dad working 10hrs a day. 

My daughter badly needs transport from home to school and school to home as I am a 
single parent with two children. Children start and finish school at the same time and it is 
impossible to get the other end of the city at such a busy time to pick up my other child 
from school. I am asking for help with school transport because we need it. Also my 
daughter is safe with the people who look after her in the bus and she is very happy when 
she returns home by bus. Thank-you 

 

 

Section 4 – Survey Responses 
A short form survey was created during the formal consultation to enable people to 

consider the key proposals and respond to these. 80 responses were received and 

the outcome was as follows: 

 

Post 16 contribution towards SEND Transport 
 
This proposal would affect approximately 82 students per annum 
 

Page 46



 
 

Other Comments 
 

The young is fostered by  us and has a disability/complex needs  

I think peoples situations are different and it may be too expensive for people to 
contribute.       

Only if you have allocated a school place as per the parents request. IE if a child has been 
given a place in a distant school, then the council should not ask for a contribution 

These people require assistance for a reason. If reason is a disability then this already 
impacts financially on family /parents ability to earn due to caring responsibilities. Having 
to pay more out when already sacrificed a lot financially is unfair and the child may have to 
forgo the education/training they prefer due to financial cost. Non disabled people have 
more choice to start with. Many families not considered low income but who are financially 
restricted due to caring responsibilities will be hit by this. 

I do but i think the cost is rather high 

My son gets a free bus pass so transport should be free 

 

 
 

Other Comments 
 

Our  

I think all disabled people should always have transport provided free  

Seems a lot for those on low income but if taken month at 24.00 that's reasonable, 
especially for those who use a taxi  

 

37%

55%

8%

Q1 Do you agree with asking for a contibution?

Yes           30

No            44

Other        6

29%

67%

4%

Q2 Do you think that the proposed level of 
contibution is reasonable?

Yes           23

No            54

Other        3

Page 47



 
 

Other Comments 
 

Again, it depends whether the family have chosen a school this far away. If it is due to 
allocation or need, then no 

Only if it’s their choice to be out of area. If it’s the only available place then it’s not 
reasonable  

 

 
 

Other Comments 
 

I think it should be free for all 

School travel needs to remain funded for these families.  

Do not agree with it full stop shouldn’t have to pay  

if they are only on UC, if they receive other benefits as well then maybe less of a 
reduction 

It depends, often low income families receive benefits to top up there income.  Maybe 
introduce a tier system depending on income of family & include benefits in this, so 
amount contributed will differ taking into consideration total households income including 
benefits. 

 

30%

67%

3%

Q3 Do you think a higher cost for a longer 
journey is reasonable?

Yes           24

No            54

Other        2

58%
36%

6%

Q4 Do you think a reduction for low income 
families is reasonable?

Yes           46

No            29

Other        5

Page 48



 
 

Other Comments 
 

Free for all , these families  have enough worries for a lifetime 

Should be dependant on individual circumstances  

People with additional needs that require transport assistance should not be asked to 
contribute. Financially many of these families are already restricted due to parents being 
unable to earn as much as they probably could if their child didn't need assistance. So 
every penny counts. While required to do education or training transport should be paid for 
otherwise the person who needs assistance is disadvantaged compared to a child that 
doesn't need assistance. Choices of school/college/training will be restricted without the 
assistance. 

None  

My son did not ask to have LD. He should be supported by the local authority to be able to 
access transport to education for free. Unacceptable to expect him to pay . Discriminating 
him. Cut services to individuals who have chosen their addictions not my son who has no 
choice. 

If a young adult age over 16 is in receipt of enhanced motability then it should be free as 
that shows that travel is difficult for the person, although pip/dla cannot be used as income 
it shows level of need for young person 

Maybe a tier system depending on household income depends on amount of reduction.   

It should be free for all send children 

It should be free for low income 

 

Provision of Bus Pass based on “No Extra Cost” 

 

This proposal would affect approximately 100 pupils 

8%
11%

2%

65%

14%

Q5 If you replied 'Yes' to Q4, what would be a 
reasonable adjustment in the contribution 

cost?
25%         5

50%         7

75%         1

Free for Low Income      41

Other      9

Page 49



 
 

Other Comments 
 

I dont think pupils  should be penalised for finding  the best choice of school or college for 
themselves 

Yes If it a parental choice. No if it is a LEA allocation. 

Is this question deliberately hard to understand? Again the council needs to do better at 
allocating school places as per parents wishes. Help should only be given if the school 
was not a parent's choice 

Don’t understand the question! 

Depends on the reason  

Need examples of such exemptions to be able to decide. 

yes but all efforts should be made to get a child into their nearest school if applicable  

 

 
 

Other Comments 
 

Our child is fostered and has complex needs/disability 

as above 

The fact that people can make the council pay because they don’t want to go to their 
closest school is a joke 

to help families get their children into a closer school so no need for public transport, 
unless they live a distance away 

 

24%

67%

9%

Q6 Do you feel that this exception should be 
removed?

Yes           18

No            51

Other        7

68%

16%

16%

Q7 If you answered 'Yes' to Q6 what is your 
reason?

To make things fair for
everyone           17
To prioritise Council
spending            4
Other                  4

Page 50



 
 

Other Comments 
 

It depends whether the child has to travel due to being allocated a distant school place, or 
due to the families choice  

some children cannot go locally because the schools do not neet individual childrens 
needs. so this is no fault of the parents where the childs needs will be met. 

If families are buying new properties with no school provision available so forced to attend 
schools further away this should not be their cost. LA should be building more capacity 
first  

Families should not be Penalized for attending special schools when local schools can not 
provide adequate education or support. 

Pupils should receive free travel to school if they have a need to be at a different school. 
Not all schools can meet all children's needs. 

 

 

Provision of Bus Pass based on house move in Years 10 and 11 

 

This proposal would affect approximately 14 pupils 

 

 
 

 

 

 

37%

54%

9%

Q8 If you answered 'No' to Q6 what is your 
reason?

This would incur extra cost to
families when the cost of living is
already high     21

Pupils should receive free travel to
school if they meet the distance
criteria       30

Other      5

25%

69%

6%

Q9 Do you feel that this exception should be 
removed?

Yes           20

No            54

Other        5

Page 51



Other Comments 
 

again I feel this would be another worry for people , so transport should still be provided         
le  

It depends why they moved - if was by choice then it should be removed . If moving is a 
necessity then should not be removed  

Each family will have different reasons for moving. Sometimes you may be financially 
penalizing families when there is an important reason that they need to move. Eg maybe 
they need to move due to disabilities of another child that mean they need to move nearer 
to relatives or a hospital. Having to decide what's best for both members of the family is 
cruel. 

Depends on reason for move 

If a child is moving to get away from domestic violence or any other family split then the 
child should not have this removed 

 

 
 

Other Comments 
 

Disability/complex needs our child is also fostered 

as above 

If they still meet the criteria they should not be punished 

 

 
 

58%29%

13%

Q10 If you answered 'Yes' to Q9 what is your 
reason?

Because they have chosen
to move           14

To make things fair for
everyone            7

Other                  3

51%44%

5%

Q11 If you answered 'No' to Q9 what is your 
reason?

They may not have had a choice
when moving      31

It may mean they have to move
schools if they cannot afford the
bus fare         27

Other      3

Page 52



Other Comments 
 

Both above reasons, they may not have a choice and not good for th child to move 
schools at this point in their education for the sake of bus fare. Could create more costly 
issues for council such as school refusal and then many other services need to get 
involved. Short sighted in the long run to potentially upset education. 

If they still meet the criteria they should not be punished 

Depends on the reason for the move, children's education should not be disrupted by 
having to move schools if it can be avoided. 

 

Provision of Bus Pass based on Catchment criteria 

 

 
 

 

Other Comments 
 

I cannot understand the question  - this is a very unfair survey as it is written to confuse 

It would depend if they were offered a place at their nearest school. If their offer was for 
the catchment school then it is reasonable they receive payment  

 

 

 
 

Other Comments 
 

Again, students should attend their closest school. Simple. 

 

22%

75%

3%

Q12 Do you feel that this exception should be 
removed?

Yes           17

No            58

Other        2

67%

28%

5%

Q13 If you answered 'Yes' to Q12 what is your 
reason?

To make things fair for everyone
12
To prioritise Council spending
5
Other                  1

Page 53



 
 

Other Comments 
 

Na 

Unless you are guaranteeing the nearest school has a place and is minimum of good 
ofsted rating then they should recieve free travel, also there may be individual reasons 
why the family do not choose the nearest school. May not qualify for EHCP but one 
particular school might meet child needs better. 

Disgusted that vulnerable children's access to education will be comprised to save s few 
pounds.  

Family circumstances need to be considered on individual basis 

Again not all schools are able to meet all children's needs. The 'nearest' school may not 
be a suitable school.  

Both of the above reasons. Plus making it so they can only travel to the nearest local 
school is ridiculous and not an option for many reasons for some children.  

 

 

Section 5 – One to One Telephone Conversations 
There were a few families who were unable to attend one of the booked events and 

separate discussions were undertaken with them on a one to one basis. The 

outcome and feedback from these one to one telephone conversations are as 

follows: 

 

One to One Telephone Conversations - Comments and Suggestions 

 
Preferred face to face consultation at Stonehill school with encouragement from parent to 
make sure other parents to attend. 

If 125 parents took their children to school individually it would create mayhem. 

If children need a taxi to go to a mainstream school there is a reason why they get a taxi. 

The consultations are not as good as we could have made them. 

Get everyone round a big table and get parents to put in suggestions how we can save 
money. 

All this is doing is to save the council money which is a shame on the back of our children. 

It is a cost cutting exercise that’s all !! 

Transport system is not fit for purpose anyway.  Had son allegedly spat at, had to get off 
the bus because of behaviour.  Buses are now worse than they were 18 months ago.  The 
bus driver was going to kick son off bus because he had his headphones on and the 
music was loud. 

52%38%

10%

Q14 If you answered 'No' to Q12 what is your 
reason?

This would incur extra cost to families
when the cost of living is already high
32

Pupils should receive free travel to
school if they meet the distance
criteria       23

Other      6

Page 54



If son needed to go on public transport he would have to change in the bus station. If they 
go to catch a specific time bus and the bus doesn’t turn up his anxiety would go through 
the roof.  What would he do?  He would not know what to do and where to turn.  He would 
be anxious.  He would not know how to react.  He would worry, overthink, not be able to 
react to the situations. Factors to be taken into account. 

Buses don’t turn up, would leave children in the interchange.  E.g..  Bus didn’t turn up to 
Don Valley the other week and children had to walk from Toll Bar. 

Children not safe on buses and on transport.   

What price is the safety of our children.  It is an awful situation to be in.  We are no longer 
safe. 

The post-16 charge is discriminatory. 

It doesn’t make allowances for the fact that parents of children with SEND have less 
choice as to where to send their children and often it is much further. 

Low income – parents are often carers for their children, therefore low income, often not 
able to work as less access to after school support. 

Young people less likely to be able to travel independently. 

If I have to pay, my child won’t be able to access post 16. 

Not sufficient educational access in localities. 

Would this affect mileage payment. My child cannot travel on bus so I take him and 
receive mileage 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                 APPENDIX 3     
 

 
 
 
  
 
 

HOME TO SCHOOL 

TRAVEL ASSISTANCE 

POLICY 

2022-2027 
 
 

 
 

Pupil Support and Passenger Transport Section 
www.doncaster.gov.uk 

 
Updated February 2022 V1.1 

Page 57

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/


 

 
 

Contents 

 
1. Introduction and General Principles ................................................... Page 1 

 The Legal Framework .......................................................................... Page 1 
 Compulsory School Age ....................................................................... Page 1 
 Types of Travel Assistance .................................................................. Page 1 
 Qualifying Schools ................................................................................ Page 2 
 Dual Registration .................................................................................. Page 2 

Occasions when Travel Assistance will not be provided ...................... Page 2 
 Dual Custody Arrangements ................................................................ Page 3 

 
2. Eligible Pupils ....................................................................................... Page 3 

 Pupils aged under 4 ............................................................................. Page 3 
 aged between 4 and 7 .......................................................................... Page 3 
 Pupils aged between 8 and 16 ............................................................. Page 3 
 Pupils from Low Income Families ......................................................... Page 4 

- Pupils aged between 4 and 11 years (Primary)  ............................ Page 4 
- Pupils aged between 11 and 16 years (years 7 to 11 inclusive) .... Page 4 
- Pupils Pupils attending schools on grounds of Religion or Belief ... Page 4 

 Distance Measurements ....................................................................... Page 4 
 Available Walking Routes ..................................................................... Page 5 
 Pupils not attending their Nearest/Catchment School .......................... Page 5 
 Exceptions to the above ....................................................................... Page 6 
 General Information .............................................................................. Page 7 

 
3. Post 16 – 6th Form and Further Education Students ......................... Page 7 

 
4. Excluded Pupils and Students ............................................................ Page 8 

 Pupils of School Age attending Schools ............................................... Page 8 
 Pupils of Compulsory School Age attending Other Provision ............... Page 8 
 Managed Compulsory Moves ............................................................... Page 8 

 
5. Travel Assistance on Medical Grounds .............................................. Page 8 

 
6. Pupils and Students with SEND .......................................................... Page 8 

 General ................................................................................................ Page 8
 Parental Preference ............................................................................. Page 8 
 Type of Travel Assistance Provided ..................................................... Page 9 
 Independent Travel Training .............................................................. Page 10 
 Personal Budgets ............................................................................... Page 10 
 Mileage Allowance ............................................................................. Page 11 
 What if a Budget/Allowance is not Agreed ......................................... Page 11 
 Travel not Eligible for a Budget/Allowance ......................................... Page 12 
 Equipment .......................................................................................... Page 12 
 Changes to Travel Arrangements....................................................... Page 13
 Travel Assistance for Boarding Arrangements ................................... Page 13 
 Pupils and students with SEND but no EHCP .................................... Page 13 
 Requests for Parents to Travel ........................................................... Page 13 

 
7. Pupils and Students with SEND aged up to 16 ................................ Page 14 

 
8. Pupils and Students with SEND aged 16-19 ...................................... Page14 

Page 58



 

 
 

 General .............................................................................................. Page 14 
  
 College Transport ............................................................................... Page 14 

 
9. Students with SEND Post 19 ............................................................. Page 14 

General .............................................................................................. Page 14 
 College Transport ............................................................................... Page 15 

 
10.   Appeals .............................................................................................. Page 15 

 The Stage One Review ..................................................................... Page 15 
  The Stage Two Review ..................................................................... Page 16 
  The Stage Three Review ................................................................... Page 16 

 
11.  Ceasing Assistance With Transport ................................................ Page 17 

  
12.  Notes ................................................................................................... Page 17 

Parent/Carer ....................................................................................... Page 17 
 Ordinarily Resident ............................................................................. Page 17 

Full Time Course ................................................................................ Page 17 
 Closing Date for Applications for Bus Passes .................................... Page 17 

Definition of an Eligible Child .............................................................. Page 17 
 
 
 
Information can be made available in other languages, on other formats such as Braille or Audio 
Tape, on request.  Please contact the Pupil Support and Transport Team on 737325 for more 
information, or if you need any other help or advice.

Page 59



1 
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION AND GENERAL PRINCIPLES 
 
This document outlines the policy of Doncaster Council (“the Council”) in relation to the 
provision of travel assistance and home to school transport for pupils and students.  The 
provision of travel assistance is a contributing factor to the  
 
The primary responsibility for ensuring pupils and students attend school or college is 
always that of the parent or carer. In exceptional circumstances, however, in order to 
ensure attendance, Doncaster Council can help with travel arrangements. This policy 
details the responsibilities of the Council, and provides a guide to those circumstances 
under which support would be given to eligible pupils and students.  
 
The Legal Framework 
This Policy is prepared in response to duties of the Council (see note 1), under section 
508B of the Education Act 1996, (amended by Education and Inspections Act 2006).  
 
Schedule 35B of the Act defines eligibility with regard to children in an authority’s area 
for whom special travel arrangements will always be required.   
 
Under section 508B when applicable, these arrangements must be provided free of 
charge. 
 
A condition of each category is that they are of compulsory school age.   
 
Compulsory School Leaving Age 
In 2013 the Government raised the Participation Age meaning that all pupils and students 
must continue in some form of education or training until at least their 18th birthday. 
However, there was no change made to the statutory school age which remains at 5 to 
16 years.   
 
This change did not extend the entitlement to free travel assistance beyond the age of 
16, as the change to the participation age does not mean that a pupil or student must 
stay in school. They may choose to work fulltime and study part time, continue with full 
time study at school or college, be involved in part time training whilst volunteering or 
undertake an apprenticeship. 
 
Further information about raising the Participation age can be found on the Department 
of Education website at: 
www.gov.uk/government/collections/raising-the-participation-age 
 
 
Types of Travel Assistance 
Travel assistance for those deemed eligible will normally comprise of one of the following: 

 A Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass to enable the pupil to travel to and from school on 
public transport 

 a refund of travel expenses in accordance with the cheapest available public 
transport route for pupils able to access public transport services 

 Independent Travel Training for pupils who are not currently able to access public 
transport but have the capability to do so with appropriate support and training 
 

Page 60

http://www.gov.uk/government/collections/raising-the-participation-age


2 
 

 
 

 The payment of a personal travel budget to allow parents/carers to make any 
arrangements they deem necessary to enable them to take their child to school 
The amount of the budget will be determined by the Council in order to ensure 
best value 

 The payment of a personal mileage allowance in accordance with the Council’s 
current rate, in certain circumstances for pupils unable to access public transport 
services  

 Free or subsidised travel on a bus, coach, mini-bus or taxi/private hire or similar 
vehicle for pupils identified as having Special Educational Needs or Disabilities 
(SEND) or other needs which mean that they are unable to access public transport 
and no other form of travel assistance is suitable.  The type of transport will be 
determined by the Council as appropriate to meet the child’s individual needs 
during the journey if required 
 

This is not an exhaustive list and other options may also be considered dependent upon 
the circumstances at the time. 
 
Qualifying Schools 
Where mentioned in this policy, qualifying schools are: 

 Community, foundation or voluntary schools 

 Community or foundation special schools 

 Non-maintained special schools 

 Pupil Referral Units 

 Academies, city technical colleges or city colleges for the technology of the arts 
 
References to “nearest qualifying school” are to be taken to mean the nearest  qualifying 
school with places available which provide education appropriate to the age, ability and 
aptitude of the child taking into account any special educational needs the child might 
have. 
 
If a pupil is attending an independent school which is not a qualifying school that school 
will be deemed to be a qualifying school if it is the nearest school to their residential 
address at which the child can become a registered pupil. 
 
Dual Registration 
Some pupils may be registered at more than one school.  Where they are registered at 
two qualifying schools (which are not Pupil Referral Units), if eligible, travel assistance 
will be provided to whichever of the schools the pupil is attending on any school day. 
 
Travel assistance will not be provided for transfers between schools during the school 
day. 
 
Occasions when Travel Assistance will not be provided 
This policy applies to home to school travel arrangements at the start and end of the 
school day. The school day is deemed to be the session times approved by the 
Governing Body of the qualifying school. Account will however be made for those children 
for whom their particular needs mean that they have a variable school day. Such 
circumstances will be considered on an individual basis. 
 
Other than where exceptionally agreed by the SEND Resource Panel/Travel Assistance 
Panel/ Doncaster Children’s Services Trust no assistance will be provided with travel: 

Page 61



3 
 

 
 

 

 To access breakfast or after school clubs, including out of school activities 

 To and from work experience placements, taster or open days, or transition visits 

 To any provision off the school site organised by the school 

 For transfers between educational establishments during the school day 

 To and from medical, dental, psychiatric, speech therapy or similar appointments 

 Following detention 

 At times to suit the convenience of family arrangements 

 At times when other siblings in the family have to be taken to other schools 

 For late arrivals or early departures, for example in the event of the pupil or 
student becoming ill 

 For shorter than normal days, for example during the exam season 

 For those whose level of attendance is a cause of concern, but for whom no 
eligibility criteria are met 

 For students on exchange visits 

 Where the behaviour of a young person is not acceptable to the driver of the 
vehicle and places other travellers a risk. In these circumstances parents will be 
required to make alternative arrangements. Please see Section 11 for more 
details 
 

Responsibility for travel in the above circumstances will rest with either the school, 
college or parent/carer. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: In all cases, the Council cannot guarantee travelling arrangements to 
any school; such arrangements are entirely in the hands of the providers of bus services 
and/or South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE).  
 
In addition, it is the responsibility of parents/carers to ensure their child’s safety by making 
appropriate arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 
stop if necessary. 
 
Dual Custody Arrangements 
For pupils whose parents/carers no longer live at the same address and who qualify for 
travel assistance, this will normally be to the address at which the pupil spends three or 
more school nights (Sunday – Thursday) providing that this is within the Doncaster area. 
Assistance to both homes will not be provided. 
 
Where the pupil spends an equal amount of time during the school week at both 
addresses and they would qualify for assisted travel to school from both addresses, the 
Council will provide assistance from one address only and this will be the address where 
child benefit is paid to.  This must also be within the Doncaster area. 
 

2 ELIGIBLE PUPILS 
 
Pupils aged under 4 
As a general rule, no assistance with transport shall be given to any nursery age child 
unless they have a statement of SEN or Education Health Care Plan (ECHP) and have 
had travel assistance approved by the Travel Assistance Panel.   
 

Page 62



4 
 

 
 

Pupils aged between 4 and 7 
For pupils less than 8 years of age (on 1st September), free travel assistance will be 
provided if they live more than two miles from and are attending their nearest qualifying 
school school/catchment school or an alternative school allocated by the Council. 
 
Pupils aged between 8 and 16  
For pupils who are aged 8 years or older (on 1st September) and still of compulsory 
school age free school travel assistance will be provided if they live more than three miles 
from and are attending their nearest qualifying school school/catchment school or an 
alternative school allocated by the Council. 
 
Pupils from Low Income Families 
The Education and Inspections Act 2006 introduced free travel assistance for pupils from 
low income families.  Pupils meeting the following criteria will receive free travel 
assistance usually in the form of a zero fare bus pass: 
 

 Pupils aged between 8 and 11 years (Primary aged Pupils)  
For pupils who are on free school meals or whose parents are in receipt of the 
maximum level of Working Tax Credit free school travel assistance will be 
provided if they are attending their nearest qualifying school/catchment school or 
an alternative school allocated by the Council and live more than two miles from 
school 

 Pupils aged between 11 and 16 years (i.e. Years 7 to 11 inclusive) 
For pupils who are on free school meals or whose parents are in receipt of the 
maximum level of Working Tax Credit free school travel assistance will be 
provided if they are attending one of their three nearest qualifying schools which 
are more than two miles but not more than 6 miles from their home address 

 Pupils attending School on Grounds of Religion or Belief 
For pupils in years 7 to 11 who are on free school meals or whose parents are in 
receipt of the maximum level of Working Tax Credit free school travel assistance 
will be provided up to 16 years of age (end of Year 11) if they are attending their 
nearest appropriate denominational school on grounds of religion or belief, where 
the distance between home and school is more than two miles but not more than 
fifteen miles 

 
PLEASE NOTE: Free travel assistance on denominational grounds will not be provided 
unless families qualify under the low income criteria below. 
 
Once eligibility has been determined and confirmed, the pupil will remain eligible until the 
end of the school year for which the assessment has been made. Parents/Carers will 
need to re-apply for assistance annually. 
 
Distance Measurements 
Distances referred to in this section are measured as follows: 

 Up to two miles – as per the statutory walking distance, along the nearest available 
walking route 

 Up to three miles – as per the statutory walking distance, along the nearest 
available walking route 

 The six mile/fifteen mile upper limits – along road routes passable by suitable 
motorised transport. 

 

Page 63



5 
 

 
 

All measurements are made according to the “nearest available walking route” which is 
not necessarily the shortest distance by road.  
 
For the purposes of this policy, the walking distance will be measured from the front gate 
of the address where the Council has accepted the pupil or student is ordinarily resident, 
to the nearest designated entrance of the school or college to which assistance is being 
considered under the relevant clause of the policy. i.e. at the entrance to the 
grounds/boundary of the school or college. 
 
The route will be measured using a computerised Geographical Information System.  The 
Council considers this as an exact measure and cannot be considered marginal.  If the 
Council considers it necessary a route may also be measured by calibrated pedometer.  
These are the only forms of measurement the Council will take into account in 
determining the distance between home and school for the purposes of this Policy. 
 
Available Walking Routes 
This is the shortest route along which a child, “accompanied as necessary”, may walk 
with reasonable safety and may include footpaths, bridleways and other pathways, as 
well as recognized roads. This means that a route will be available even if the child would 
need to be accompanied along it by an adult.  
 
The assessment of the availability or otherwise of a route will be based on a child being 
accompanied by an adult.  It will be irrelevant for the purposes of that assessment 
whether or not the child would or would not be so accompanied when attending the 
school or college. 
 
If the walking route, or alternative routes, to the school the pupil could reasonably be 
expected to take is/are not considered to be reasonably available even when 
accompanied by an adult, the Council will provide appropriate travel assistance which 
will normally be through the provision of a Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass. 
 
Assessment of the comparative safety of a route will involve such factors as: 

 the age of the child;  

 whether any potential risks might be mitigated if the child were accompanied by 
an adult;  

 the width of any roads travelled along and the existence of pavements;  

 the volume and speed of traffic travelling along any roads;  

 the existence or otherwise of street lighting; and  

 the condition of the route at different times of the year, at the times of day that a 
child would be expected to travel to and from school.  

 
Pupils not attending their nearest qualifying/catchment school 
Under the 1996 Education Act parents are able to express a preference for their choice 
of school, and the Council both recognises this and has responsibilities under the same 
Act in respect of those preferences. However, in order to ensure the efficient use of its 
resources, the Council will normally only provide free travel to pupils meeting the relevant 
eligibility conditions attending the school designated as the nearest qualifying school or 
catchment school for the area in which the LA has determined the pupil is ordinarily 
resident for the purposes of admissions to schools 
 
 

Page 64



6 
 

 
 

Exceptions to the above 
Assistance in the form of a Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass will only be offered for pupils in 
the following exceptional, age appropriate circumstance: 

 

 Where the Council is unable to make a place available at the pupil’s nearest 
qualifying school school/catchment school and makes a place available at the next 
nearest school (the allocated school), which is the statutory qualifying distance.   

 
PLEASE NOTE: The Council previously provided travel assistance under the following 
exceptions for pupils not attending their catchment school or allocated school: 
 

 Pupils attending an alternative school which was the statutory qualifying distance. 
On the basis that the Council would not incur any additional cost, a zero fare bus 
pass to enable the pupil to attend the alternative school was provided equivalent 
to that which the pupil would have received had they attended either the 
nearest/catchment, or allocated, school as the case may be.   

 

 A further exception was also previously provided when pupils moved home within 
the Doncaster Area whilst in Years 10 or 11, and wished to remain at the school 
they had been attending to complete their course, free travel assistance was 
provided where the distance between their new home and their school was more 
than the statutory qualifying distance.   

 
Following a Consultation in 2021/22, these exceptions were removed and the following 
pupils will not qualify for assistance under these exceptions: 
 

 Pupils whose families request an in year school transfer after the date of 
publication of this policy  

 All pupils starting a new phase of education after 1st September 2023.  
 

Pupils who were already in receipt of assistance prior to 1st September 2023 will continue 
to receive assistance (if they remain eligible) until they finish their current phase of 
education (in most cases the end of Year 11). 
 
 
General information 
When selecting alternative schools, parents/carers must do so in the knowledge that, 
unless they qualify under the above exception, free transport, or assistance with transport 
costs, will not be available, regardless of the distance involved. 
 
Additionally, the Council cannot guarantee travelling arrangements to any school: such 
arrangements are entirely in the hands of the providers of bus services and/or South 
Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE). Therefore, as an additional factor in 
making their decision parents/carers, should also consider the consequences of possible 
future alterations to bus services. 
 
Parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate arrangements 
for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus stop and during the journey 
if required. 
 

Page 65



7 
 

 
 

3 POST 16 – SIXTH FORM/FURTHER EDUCATION 
STUDENTS 

 
Unless a pupil qualifies for assistance due to Special Educational Needs or Disabilities 
(SEND) there is no provision of free travel assistance for Post 16 students entering into 
further education at Sixth form or College for the first time or undertaking new courses.   
 
However the Council does have a duty to publish a Post 16 Policy Statement by the 31st 
of May each year. This statement is reviewed and published on the Council website 
annually and covers the following areas: 

 Details of concessionary fares, tickets, discounts, subsidies, passes or travel 
cards available for Post 16 students attending sixth form at school, college or other 
places of learning or training 

 The 16-19 Bursary Fund 

 Help for learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities or students facing 
difficulties in following their courses 

 Information on travel assistance for Special Educational Needs Students over the 
age of 19 

 Independent Travel Training 

 Cross Boundary Travel/Transport 

 Residential Education Placements 

 Care to Learn funding 

 How to appeal against a decision made on transport assistance 

 How to make a complain 

 Useful contacts, links and further information 

The policy and further details can be found at: 

at:   www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/transport-policy-statement  

 
4 EXCLUDED PUPILS AND STUDENTS 
 
Pupils of Compulsory School Age Attending Schools 
Where a pupil has been excluded from his/her school, and the Council allocates an 
alternative school which is the statutory qualifying distance appropriate to the age of the 
pupil from where the pupil is ordinarily resident, a zero fare bus pass to enable 
attendance will be provided. 
 
Where the parents/carers of the pupil choose for him/her not to attend the allocated 
school and accept a place at an alternative school then the Council will not provide 
assistance with travel costs. 
 
When selecting alternative schools, parents/carers must do so in the knowledge that, 
unless they qualify under the above exceptions, free transport, or assistance with 
transport costs, will not be available, regardless of the distance involved.  As an additional 
factor in making their decision, they should also consider the consequences of possible 
future alterations to bus services. 
 

Page 66

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/services/schools/transport-policy-statement


8 
 

 
 

Pupils of Compulsory School Age attending other Provision 
Where a pupil has been excluded from his/her school, and the Council arranges 
education provision for the pupil at institutions other than a school, assistance with travel 
will be considered as if the alternative provision was a school in line with existing 
protocols. 
 
Managed Moves 
Travel assistance will not be provided for a pupil or student when a move between 
schools is agreed between two schools.  In this case parents/carers will need to speak 
to the schools concerned if they require assistance with travel costs. Assistance will not 
be provided if as a result of parental preference the child is moved to a school that is not 
the nearest suitable school. 
 

5 TRAVEL ASSISTANCE ON MEDICAL GROUNDS 

 
Pupils in Reception and Years 1 to 11 with a medical condition who are fit to attend 
school, but are unable to do so because they are unable to walk or are unable to travel 
by their normal means of transport, may be temporarily considered for free travel 
assistance to school whilst that condition persists.  
 
Parents/carers will need to complete an Application for Travel Assistance form. This form 
should be requested via the school in the first instance.  Further information can be 
obtained from the Travel Assistance Service either by e-mail at: 
Transport@doncaster.gov.uk or by telephone on 01302 736027/736002 
 
The request for assistance on medical grounds must be supported by a medical 
practitioner. Officers may request additional information and evidence from the 
parent/carer. 
 
All requests will be referred to the Travel Assistance Panel for review and the Panel will 
either uphold or refuse the request based upon the evidence provided.  In the event of a 
refusal parents/carers will have the option to appeal against the decision. 
 

6 PUPILS & STUDENTS WITH SPECIAL 
EDUCATIONAL NEEDS & DISABILITIES (SEND) 

 
General 
Each pupil or student identified by the Council as having Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) will have their individual travel assistance needs assessed against 
set agreed criteria, taking into account their age, mobility and the effect of their SEND on 
their ability to travel.  If it is concluded that a pupil or student does not require transport 
assistance under this section, then consideration will be given under the other sections 
of this policy as appropriate. 
 
 
 
Parental Preference 
Travel assistance will not be provided under this section where the Council has identified 
an institution or provider to meet a pupil or student’s need but the parents/carers choose 
to send their child to a more distant institution or provider of the same type. If the parents 

Page 67

mailto:Transport@doncaster.gov.uk


9 
 

 
 

prefer the school or college that is further away, the Council may agree to name this 
provider in the Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) but parents/carers will need to 
provide transport themselves. 
 
Type of Travel Assistance Provided 
The type of travel assistance provided will be the most appropriate to the child’s age,  
safety and needs and will normally be one of the following:  
 

 A Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass to enable the pupil to travel to and from school on 
public transport. Parents/carers must ensure their child’s safety by making 
appropriate arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the 
nearest bus stop if required 

 A refund of travel expenses in accordance with the cheapest available public 
transport route for pupils able to access public transport services 

 Independent Travel Training for pupils who are not currently able to access public 
transport but have the capability to do so with appropriate support and training 

 The payment of a personal travel budget to allow parents/carers to make any 
arrangements they deem necessary to enable them to take their child to school. 
The amount of the budget will be determined by the Council in order to ensure 
best value 

 The payment of a personal mileage allowance in accordance with the Council’s 
current rate in certain circumstances for pupils unable to access public transport 
services (full details are outlined in Section 1 of this Policy) 

 Free or subsidised travel on a bus, coach, mini-bus or taxi/private hire or similar 
vehicle for pupils identified as having Special Educational Needs or Disabilities 
(SEND) or other needs which mean that they are unable to access public transport 
and no other form of travel assistance is suitable.  A pupil or student will normally 
be expected to share a vehicle with other pupils and/or students, individual 
transport will only be provided in exceptional circumstances where such a need 
has been clearly identified.  Pupils and students who are assessed as requiring 
travel on a coach, mini-bus, taxi/private hire or similar vehicle, will be picked up 
and dropped off at the most convenient designated point nearest to their home 
address, with due regard to their needs and safety. Pupils will only be guaranteed 
collection and drop-off from outside their home address if their needs are 
assessed to require this 

 
Independent Travel Training 
Independent travel training is vitally important to prepare young people for further 
education, and life after education, by giving them the independence and confidence to 
travel on public transport and opening up opportunities for employment in the future. 
 
All secondary age pupils and students over compulsory school age with SEND previously 
assessed as requiring travel assistance, will receive support with independence training 
as part of their school/college curriculum with the aim of reducing their reliance on 
individual transport in preparation for adult life.   
 
This will require plans to encourage independent travel to be put in place by the 
school/college and parents/carers working in partnership, to mutually agreed targets.  
Progress should be evidenced at each annual review.  There is a specific duty on schools 
and Councils to begin planning for the transition to adulthood formally from Y9. 
 

Page 68



10 
 

 
 

The Council has an Independent Travel Training Team who can help with travel training 
and provide advice support and guidance on this important skill. Further information can 
be obtained from the team by e-mail at ITT@doncaster.gov.uk or by telephone on 01302 
736316 . 
 
School and parents/carers should encourage their children to take up public/community 
travel options at the earliest opportunity – this will be regarded as a positive achievement 
towards the pupil or student’s attainment in becoming an independent traveller.  Where 
transport is ceased under this section, pupils and students may be eligible for support 
under other sections of this policy as appropriate. 
 
Personal Budgets 
In order to qualify for a personal budget a pupil must satisfy the following criteria:  
 

 the pupil must have an EHC Plan, or 

 be assessed as requiring additional assistance by the Travel Assistance 
Panel and 

 must fall into one of the four categories of ‘eligible child’ ( please see Note 7 
for definition of ‘eligible child’) and 

 there is no suitable transport running in the area so that the daily cost of the 
budget is less than the cost of transport to the Council   
 

Parents/Carers wishing to use a personal budget to assist them in making their own travel 
arrangements for their child will need to request this option in discussion with the SEND 
team/ Travel Assessment Officer when looking at travel assistance to school. 
 
Where appropriate, the Council may ask for evidence that the amount requested is 
proportionate and to be used solely for the purpose specified. 
 
Personal budgets will generally be paid at the end of each month based on the rate 
agreed by the Council, although in certain circumstances it may be possible to pay a 
proportion of this in advance. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: If paid in advance, this payment is based on the assumption that the 
pupil will attend school regularly in order for this payment to continue.  Any long term 
absence, will result in a corresponding deduction in any future termly payments and/or a 
request for repayment to the Council, as deemed appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
Mileage Allowance 
In order to qualify for a Mileage Allowance a pupil must satisfy the following criteria:  
 

 the pupil must have an EHC Plan, or 

 be assessed as requiring additional assistance by the Travel Assistance 
Panel and 

 must fall into one of the four categories of ‘eligible child’ ( please see Note 7 
for definition  of ‘eligible child’) and 

 there is no suitable transport running in the area so that the daily cost of the 
budget is less than the cost of transport to the Council 

 

Page 69

mailto:ITT@doncaster.gov.uk


11 
 

 
 

Parents/Carers wishing to use a mileage allowance to assist them in making their own 
travel arrangements for their child will need to request this option in discussion with the 
SEND team/Travel Assessment officer when looking at travel assistance to school. 
 
Mileage allowances will generally be paid at the end of each month based on the rates 
below although in certain circumstances it may be possible to pay a proportion of this in 
advance. : 
  

 Circumstances Suggested Rate Per Mile 

1 Parents offer to undertake transport but 
pupil can fit on existing transport at nil or 
reduced cost. 

Nil – Request refused 

2 Parents transport their own child and any 
alternative is more expensive than the 
agreed mileage rate 

45p per mile – this is the current 
Council mileage rate.  Any 
change to this rate will also result 
in a change to the amount paid to 
parents/carers 

 
 
The payment will be calculated using the mileage between home and school E.g. 10 
miles between home and school = 40 miles (2 return journeys) x 45p x 20 days (January) 
= £360.  The mileage will be determined by the Travel Assistance Service along the 
shortest route using an appropriate mileage calculation system. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: If paid in advance, this payment is based on the assumption that the 
pupil will attend school regularly in order for this payment to continue.  Any long term 
absence, will result in a corresponding deduction in any future termly payments and/or a 
request for repayment to the Council, as deemed appropriate in the circumstances. 
 
What if a Budget/Allowance is not agreed? 
The Council will explain in writing if they do not agree with a parental or eligible young 
person’s request in relation to a personal budget or mileage allowance. Parents and/or 
the eligible young person can ask for a review of the decision where: 
 

 an aspect of provision in the EHCP has not been offered as a Personal 
Budget or mileage allowance and they would like to have this reconsidered; 

 a personal budget or mileage allowance has not been offered at all; 

 it is felt that the personal budget is insufficient to meet the identified needs 
and outcomes. 

 
The Council will confirm the outcome of a review in writing and will not reconsider a 
decision more than once. 
 
Travel not Eligible for a Budget/Allowance 
The payment of a Personal Budget for travel will only be paid to support a pupil’s 
attendance at school or College. 
 
The responsibility for the following type of travel lies with the School, College or 
parent/carer and will not be covered by the personal budget: 
 

 travel to and from work placements 

Page 70



12 
 

 
 

 travel to and from medical, dental, psychiatric, speech therapy or other similar 
appointments 

 travel to and from extra-curricular activities, after school clubs, where this is in 
addition to home to school transport. 

 
Parents and carers who require assistance to get their child to and from school will need 
to request an Application for Travel Assistance form from the SEND Team/ Travel 
Assessment Officer at the Council. This must be completed and returned to the SEND 
Officer/Travel Assessment Officer who will review the contents of this request and 
discuss the most appropriate form of Travel Assistance with parents/carers. The type of 
assistance will be determined by the Council as the most appropriate to meet the 
pupil/student’s individual needs during the journey. 
 
In some circumstances this request may also be referred by officers to the Travel 
Assistance Panel for a decision. 
 
Any travel assistance agreed to meet a pupil’s need will be in accordance with the 
provisions of this section and will be reviewed and, if necessary, reassessed at each 
annual review of the EHCP.  Where it is decided that the type of travel assistance needs 
modification or travel assistance is no longer required then the pupil’s records will be 
amended accordingly and changes made. 
 
Equipment 
Any special equipment or supervision arrangements required because of the 
pupil/student’s needs will normally be arranged by the Council. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: Out of hours activities, parents/carer work commitments and other 
Social reasons are not valid factors in determining the type of transport assistance for a 
child. 
 
It is the responsibility of parents/carers to ensure their child’s safety by making  
appropriate arrangements to accompany their child to and from the designated stop/pick- 
up point, or see them safely onto and off the vehicle.  
 
Where a parent/carer consistently fails to deliver/receive their child at the pick-up/drop-
off point at the agreed time, the provision of transport will be reviewed and may be 
withdrawn 
 
Changes to Travel Arrangements 
Approval will not be given for ad hoc or occasional variations to the arrangements 
determined by the Council.  If parents/carers request a variation to the arrangements, for 
example, for their child to be collected from, or dropped off at a relative/neighbour/child-
minder’s address, an amendment to the agreed travel arrangements will only be given 
where: 
 

 the request is for a permanent change on each school day; and 

 no change to the transport provider will be required; and 

 no additional cost will be incurred by the Council; and 

 the request would not add unreasonable additional travelling time for any other 
pupils in the vehicle. 

 

Page 71



13 
 

 
 

Where these requirements cannot be met the request will be declined. 
 
Travel Assistance for Boarding Arrangements 
The type of travel assistance provided will be the most appropriate to the child’s age,  
safety and needs.  Any assistance or help with the costs of travel will be as follows: 
 

 For pupils/students who board for 5 days assistance will be provided at the start 
and end of each school/college week 

 For pupils/students who board for 7 days assistance will be provided at the start 
and end of each school/college term and half term.  In addition pupils who are in 
the National Curriculum Year Group 7 or below i.e. who have not yet had their 
twelfth birthday, and who board for 7 days, will be provided with additional return 
journeys for two weekends per half-term. 

 
 
Pupils and Students with SEND but no EHCP 
For pupils and students with SEND but without an EHCP, an assessment of transport 
need will be undertaken by the appropriate Officer(s) at the time a decision is taken.  
Where it is determined that the provision of a Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass would not be 
appropriate to meet the needs of the pupil or student, the provision of transport will be in 
accordance with the provisions of this section and will be reviewed and, if necessary, 
reassessed annually by the appropriate Officer(s). 
 
Requests for Parents to Travel 
From time to time the Council receives requests from parents to accompany their child 
on the home-to-school journey. As a general rule this will not be agreed, but there may 
be special circumstances which merit consideration.  
 
These may include where a parent has to attend the annual review and has no transport 
and they live a considerable distance from the school. Such cases will be exceptional 
and the Council will consider what is reasonable in the circumstances.  
 
For such a request to be agreed, there must always be an escort present on the vehicle 
if other pupils/students are travelling, sufficient room for the parent so as not to disturb 
the normal travel arrangements and there must be no additional cost to the Council. 
 

 
7 PUPILS AND STUDENTS WITH SEND AGED UP 

TO 16 (END OF YEAR 11) 
 
The Policy outlined in Section 6 above will apply. 

 
8 PUPILS AND STUDENTS WITH SEND AGED16-19 

(YEARS 12-14) 
 
General 
Parents/Carers who require travel assistance to and from school/college for Post 16 
students will need to request an Application for Travel Assistance form from the 

Page 72



14 
 

 
 

SEND/Participation and Transition Service at the Council. This must be completed and 
returned to the SEND/Participation and Transition Service at the Council who will review 
the contents of this request and discuss the most appropriate form of Travel Assistance 
with parents/carers. The type of assistance will be determined by the Council as the most 
appropriate to meet the pupil/student’s individual needs during the journey. 
 
This may also involve an assessment for Independent Travel Training if it is felt that this 
is an option for the pupil/student. . Failure to attend assessment could mean transport is 
not provided. Where assistance with transport is deemed necessary it will be provided in 
accordance with the provisions of this section. Assistance with transport will, if necessary, 
be subject to an annual review and/or reassessment. 
 
College Transport 
Where a college has several sites at which the student is required to attend, transport 
will be provided to one designated site agreed between the Council, the student and the 
college authorities. Any inter site transfer will be the responsibility of the college to 
provide.   
 
Where attendance at a college other than Doncaster College (or Dearne Valley College 
if that is nearer to the student’s permanent address) has been agreed and the student 
could attend by boarding but elects to travel daily, no transport will be arranged.  Instead, 
the student will be assisted by a payment towards the cost of travel, which will be 
calculated as follows: 
 

i) The total cost of daily travel for the academic year will be calculated as if it 
had been arranged by the Council in accordance with this policy; 

ii) from this figure shall be deducted the residential costs that would otherwise 
have been payable by, or on behalf of, the student. 

 
9 STUDENTS WITH SEND POST 19 
 
General 
Individual transport needs will be assessed against set agreed criteria, by the appropriate 
Officers for students who are; 
 

 over the age of 19 and under 25 years of age on 1 September each year; and 

 ordinarily resident in the borough; and 

 have (or have had) a S139a, an EHCP and a Social Services Assessment of Need 
which has a specific requirement for transport; and 

 be registered (or registerable) as disabled under the Chronically Sick and Disabled 
Persons’ Act 1970; and 

 attending a course funded by the Education Funding Agency at a local FE College 
agreed as appropriate to meet the needs of the student, unless attendance on a 
course at another institution has been agreed as more appropriate to meet a 
specific educational and/or social need of the student. 

 Progression in learning must be evidenced against outcomes in the EHCP.  Lack 
of progression will mean that transport will no longer be approved.  Funding will 
not normally be provided where a student repeats a course or studies at the same 
academic level as one previously studied 

 

Page 73



15 
 

 
 

Assessment may include undertaking a specialist transport assessment. Failure to attend 
assessment could mean transport is not provided. Where assistance with transport is 
deemed necessary it will be provided in accordance with the provisions of this section 
either until the completion of the course for which it was approved or the end of the 
academic year in which the student attains the age of 25 years, whichever is the earlier.  
Assistance with transport will, if necessary, be subject to an annual review and/or 
reassessment. 
 
College Transport 
Where a college has several sites at which the student is required to attend, transport 
will be provided to one designated site agreed between the Council, the student and the 
college authorities. Any inter site transfer will be the responsibility of the college to 
provide.   
 
Where attendance at a college other than Doncaster College (or Dearne Valley College 
if that is nearer to the student’s permanent address) has been agreed and the student 
could attend by boarding but elects to travel daily, no transport will be arranged.  Instead, 
the student will be assisted by a payment towards the cost of travel, which will be 
calculated as follows: 
 

i) The total cost of daily travel for the academic year will be calculated as if it 
had been arranged by the Council in accordance with this policy; 

ii) from this figure shall be deducted the residential costs that would otherwise 
have been payable by, or on behalf of, the student. 

 
10 APPEALS 
 
Parents/carers will have the right to appeal against any determination made on 
assistance with transport by Officers of the Council under this policy.  This will be a 3 
stage process as follows: 
 
The Stage One Review 
This Review will be undertaken by a Senior Officer of the Council. 
 

 Parents/carers will have 20 working days from receipt of the Council’s decision to 
refuse their application to complete and return a Notice of Appeal Form requesting 
a review.  This form should be completed by the parent/carer and give details of 
any personal or family circumstances that the parent/carer believes should be 
taken into account when the decision is reviewed. 

 Within 20 days of receipt of this form, the Senior Officer will review the case and 
send out a letter notifying the parent/carer of the decision. 

 The letter should explain how the review was conducted, information about other 
Departments or Agencies that have been consulted as part of the process, the 
rationale for the decision reached and information about how the parent can 
escalate their case to stage 2 if necessary. 

 
The Stage Two Review 
This Review will be undertaken by an Assistant Director of the Council. 
 

Page 74



16 
 

 
 

 Parents/carers will have 20 working days from receipt of the Council’s decision to 
refuse their application to complete and return a Notice of Appeal Form requesting 
a review.  This form should be completed by the parent/carer and give details of 
any personal or family circumstances that the parent/carer believes should be 
taken into account when the decision is reviewed. 

 Within 20 days of receipt of this form, the Assistant Director will review the case 
and send out a letter notifying the parent/carer of the decision. 

 The letter should explain how the review was conducted, information about other 
Departments or Agencies that have been consulted as part of the process, the 
rationale for the decision reached and information about how the parent can 
escalate their case to stage 3 if necessary. 
 

The Stage Three Review 
This Review will be undertaken by an independent appeal panel (the Awards Grants and 
Transport Appeals Committee) 
 

 A parent/carer will have 20 working days from receipt of the Stage 2 decision to 
make a written request to escalate the matter to Stage 3. 

 Democratic Services will be informed that an appeal has been received, they will 
arrange a date for the Hearing and will send out Agendas and invites to the 
meeting. 

 Within 40 working days of receipt of the parent/carer’s request The Awards Grants 
and Transport Appeals Committee will consider written and verbal representations 
from both the parent and Officers involved in the case 

 Democratic Services will send out notification of the outcome of the appeal within 
5 working days which will set out: 

 
i) The nature of the decision reached. 
ii) How the review was conducted, information from other agencies or 

departments consulted, what factors were considered, the rationale for the 
decision reached and information about the parent’s right to put the matter 
to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

iii) It will be made clear that a referral of a complaint to the Local Government 
Ombudsman should only be made if the complainant considers that there 
was a failure to comply with the procedural rules or if they consider that 
there have been any irregularities in the handling of the appeal.  

 
All hearings of the Panel will be conducted in accordance with the approved protocol. 
 

11 CEASING ASSISTANCE WITH TRANSPORT 
 
The Council has adopted a Code of Practice for the safety and behaviour of pupils on 
Home to School transport.  If any pupil endangers their own safety or that of others by 
not adhering to this code, consideration will be given to ceasing their transport assistance 
and parents/carers will then be expected to make alternative arrangements to ensure 
their child attends school. 
 
In addition to the Code of Practice the Council has, in conjunction with the other 3 South 
Yorkshire Authorities and SYPTE, produced a policy for managing criminal and 
unacceptable behaviour on public transport.  Any breach of this policy may result in the 

Page 75



17 
 

 
 

withdrawal of the Zoom Zero Fare Travel Pass and/or further measures being taken as 
appropriate. 
 
In cases where individual transport is provided by taxi or minibus, parents are requested 
to cancel transport when not required i.e. in case of holidays or illness.  Repeated failure 
to cancel transport when not required may lead to a recharge of the cost or, ultimately, 
cancellation of the transport. 
 

NOTES 
1 Parent/Carer 
 Reference to parent and/or carer in this policy means any person having parental 

responsibility for the child (for who assistance with transport is being sought) within 
the meaning of the Children Act 1989. 

 
 It is the responsibility of those applying for assistance with transport to satisfy the 

Council that they have parental responsibility for the child for whom assistance is 
being sought. 

 

2 Ordinarily Resident 
 Reference in this policy to ‘ordinarily resident’ means where a pupil or student is 

habitually and normally resident at their address other than for occasional 
absences and for a settled purpose, which is not solely to receive education i.e. 
the residence at which the child resides during the normal school week at the 
closing date for receiving applications for admission to school during the normal 
admission round.  

 
 It is the responsibility of those applying for assistance with transport to provide 

such information as the Council requires in order to be satisfied as to where the 
pupil or student is ordinarily resident. 

 

3 Full-Time Course 
 References in this policy to a ‘full-time course’ is a reference to a course of which 

the student is required to study for at least 12 guided learning hours per week. 

 
4 Closing date for applications for Bus Passes 

 No refunds will be made for travel expenses incurred as a result of a late 
application for travel assistance.  The closing date for new bus pass applications 
is 30th June.  Whilst we can process bus pass applications at any time we cannot 
guarantee that they will be available for the start of term unless received by the 
closing date. 

 

5 Definition of Eligible Child 
The following are examples of an Eligible Child: 
 
i Children who attend schools beyond the statutory walking distance 

These children are eligible for free school travel assistance, provided that 
the Council has made no “suitable arrangements” for boarding 
accommodation or attendance at a nearer school and the children live 
beyond walking distance and attend their nearest suitable 

Page 76



18 
 

 
 

school/catchment school.  The statutory walking distance is 2 miles for 
children under 8 years old and 3 miles for children of 8 or over. 

 
ii Children with SEND or mobility problems 
 These children may live within the statutory walking distance and have 

special educational needs, a disability or mobility problem which means 
that they cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their school and no 
suitable arrangements have been made by the LA to enable them to attend 
a nearer school. 

 
iii Children whose route to school is unsafe 
 These children may live within the statutory walking distance but they 

cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their nearest suitable school 
because the route is not deemed an available walking route, even when 
accompanied. 

 
iv Children from low income families 

 Secondary school age children who attend schools over 2 and up to 6 
miles from their home, even if the school they attend is not their nearest 
suitable school, providing there are not three or more suitable schools 
which are nearer to their home, or  

 Secondary age children from low income families who attend a school 
over 2 miles but under 15 miles away from home, if their parent has 
expressed a wish for them to be educated at that particular school 
based on the parent’s religion or belief and, having regard to that religion 
or belief, there is no nearer suitable school.  This applies to parents with 
a particular religious or philosophical belief, including those with a lack 
of religion or lack of belief. 

 Primary age children (aged 8 – 10) from low income families who live 
more than 2 miles (rather than 3) from their nearest suitable school. 

 
 
Home to Transport Policy 2022 - 2027. Draft.Doc 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 4 

 

 

Updated July 2015 

 

HOME TO SCHOOL 

TRANSPORT POLICY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pupil Support and Passenger Transport Section 

Doncaster Council Website 

 

Updated July 2015 

Revised September 2020 

 

 

 
Page 79

http://www.doncaster.gov.uk/


2 
 

CONTENTS 

 

  Page 
 

 
Section 1 

 
General 

 
3  

 
Section 2 

 
Pupils Under the Age of 4 Years 

 
4 

 
Section 3 

 
Pupils Aged 4 to 7 Years 

 
4 

 
Section 4 

 
Pupils Aged 8 to 16 Years 

 
4 

 
Section 5 

 
Pupils at Denominational Schools 

 
5 

 
Section 6 

 
Pupils at Non Catchment Schools 

 
5 - 6 

 
Section 7 

 
Exceptions 

 
7 

 
Section 8 

 
Pupils from Low Income Families 

 
7 – 8 

 
Section 9 

 
Post 16 – Sixth Form/Further Education Students 

 
8  

 
Section 10 

 
Special Educational Needs: Pupils and Students up to the Age 
of 19 

 
8 – 11 

 
Section 11 

 
Special Educational Needs: Students over the Age of 19 

 
11 – 14 

 
Section 12 

 
Pupils and Students in Public Care 

 
14 

 
Section 13 

 
Excluded Pupils and Students 

 
14 – 15 

 
Section 14 

 
Appeals 

 
15 - 16 

 
Section 15 

 
Requests for Budgets for Transport 

 
16 – 18 

 
Section 16 

 
Ceasing Assistance with Transport 

 
18 

 
 

 
Notes 

 
19 - 21 

 

 

 

Information can be made available in other languages, on other formats such as Braille 

or Audio Tape, on request.  Please contact the Pupil Support and Transport Team on 

737325 for more information, or if you need any other help or advice.   

Page 80



3 
 

1 GENERAL 
 

1.1 This Policy is prepared in response to duties of the Local Authority (LA) (see 
note 1), under section 508B of the Education Act 1996, (amended by 
Education and Inspections Act 2006) which deals with the duty of Local 
Authorities in England to ensure that suitable travel arrangements as it 
considers necessary are made to facilitate attendance at school for eligible 
children or students. 

 
1.2 The primary responsibility for ensuring pupils and students attend school or 

college is that of the parent or carer (see note 2).  However, section 444(3B) 

provides a parent with a defence if he or she proves that: 

● the LA has a duty to make travel arrangements in relation to the child 

under section 508B and has failed to discharge that duty. 

Schedule 35B of the 1996 Act (amended by the Education and Inspections 

Act 2006) defines “eligible children” as those categories of children in an 

authority’s area for whom travel arrangements will always be required.  A 

condition of each category is that they are of compulsory school age.  Under 

section 508B, these arrangements must be provided free of charge. 

1.3 Unless otherwise specified, transport assistance will normally comprise of one 
of the following: 
● a zero fare bus pass purchased by the LA from South Yorkshire 

Passenger Transport Executive (SYPTE) which allows a pupil to travel 
free of charge between the bus stop nearest to their home address, and 
the school/college or the nearest bus stop to the school/college they 
attend, on commercial or tendered bus services; 

● free travel on a bus, coach, mini-bus or taxi/private hire or similar vehicle 

for pupils identified as having Special Educational Needs (SEN) (see 

section 10/11) and as determined by the LA as appropriate to meet the 

child’s individual needs. 

1.4 Other than where exceptionally agreed for pupils and students who receive 
assistance with transport under section 10/11, no assistance will be provided 
with travel: 

 
● to and from work-experience placements; 
● to and from medical, dental, psychiatric, speech therapy or similar 

appointments; 
● from school, college or other provision in event of the pupil or student 

becoming ill; or 
● to and from extra-curricular activities or any other educational provision 

or arrangements made for pupils and students by schools or colleges. 
 

 Responsibility of the above circumstances will rest with either the school, 
college or parent/carer.  

Page 81



4 
 

 

2 PUPILS UNDER THE AGE OF 4 YEARS 

 Other than for a child with a statement of SEN or Education Health Care Plan 

(ECHP) who has had transport approved in accordance with Section 10, no 

assistance with transport shall be given to a nursery aged child. 

3 PUPILS AGED 4-7 ATTENDING THEIR CATCHMENT SCHOOL 

3.1 For pupils less than 8 years of age (on 1 September), free transport will be 

provided where the distance between their home and catchment school is 2 

or more miles, measured by the nearest available walking route (hereafter 

referred to as statutory qualifying distance – see note 4).  Free transport will 

normally be facilitated through the provision of a zero fare bus pass for the 

child. 

3.2 Pupils living less than the statutory qualifying distance may be eligible for free 

travel if the LA determines that they qualify under section 7. 

3.3 Parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 

arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 

stop and during the journey if required. 

4 PUPILS AGED 8-16 ATTENDING THEIR CATCHMENT SCHOOL 
4.1 For pupils who are aged 8 years or older (on 1 September) and still of 

compulsory school age, free transport will be provided where the distance 

between their home and catchment school is 3 or more miles measured by 

the nearest available walking route (hereafter referred to as the statutory 

qualifying distance – see note 4).  Free transport will normally be facilitated 

through the provision of a zero fare bus pass. 

4.2 For pupils who move home within the Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Area 

whilst in Years 10 or 11, and who wish to remain at the school they have been 

attending to complete their examination course, free transport will be provided 

where the distance between their new home and their school is more than the 

statutory qualifying distance.  Free transport will normally be facilitated 

through the provision of a zero fare bus pass. 

4.3 For pupils from low income families please refer to section 8. 

4.4 Parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 

arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 

stop and during the journey if required. 

  

Page 82



5 
 

 

5 PUPILS ATTENDING DENOMINATIONAL SCHOOLS 

5.1 Please note that as a result of the Council having to prioritise expenditure in 

other areas from September 2010 no free transport will be provided on 

denominational grounds for pupils entering new phases of education ie 

starting primary or secondary schools.  Unless they qualify under the low 

income category.  (Please see Section 8) 

5.2 Pupils who were entitled to free transport on denominational grounds prior to 

September 2010  will continue to receive a free bus pass until they reach the 

end of their phase of education ie until the end of primary education (year 6) 

or until the end of statutory schooling (year 11). 

5.3 Where a child attends a school for denominational reasons, free transport will 

be provided where: 

● the school is the nearest maintained school of the faith to which the 

parent adheres and in which the pupil has been baptised; and 

 

● the distance between the pupil’s home and the school is the statutory 

qualifying distance appropriate to the age of the pupil but not more than 

20 miles. 

 

Free transport will normally be facilitated through the provision of a zero fare 

bus pass. 

5.4 Pupils meeting the qualifying conditions in 5.2 but living less than the statutory 

qualifying distance may be eligible for free travel if the LA determines that 

they qualify under Section 7. 

5.5 Parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 

arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 

stop and during the journey if required. 

6 PUPILS NOT ATTENDING THEIR CATCHMENT SCHOOL 

6.1 The LA recognises the rights of parents given under the Education Act, 1996 

to express a preference for their choice of school and the duties on the LA 

under the same Act in respect of those preferences expressed.  However, in 

order to ensure the efficient use of its resources, the LA will normally only 

provide free travel to pupils meeting the relevant eligibility conditions 

attending: 

 

Page 83



6 
 

● the school designated as the catchment school for the area in which the LA 
has determined the pupil is ordinarily resident for the purposes of admissions 
to schools. 

 
6.2.   An exception to this policy is made, and assistance in the form of a zero fare 

bus pass will be offered for pupils in the following circumstances: 
 

a) Where the parents/carers have chosen for their child not to attend the 
catchment school and have accepted a place for him/her at an 
alternative school, which is the statutory qualifying distance appropriate 
to the age of the pupil from where the pupil is ordinarily resident but is 
nearer than the catchment school.   

b) Where the LA is unable to make a place available at the pupil’s 
catchment school, and makes a place available at the next nearest 
school (the allocated school), which is the statutory qualifying distance 
appropriate to the age of the pupil from where the pupil is ordinarily 
resident.   

c) Where the parents/carers have chosen for their child not to attend his/her 
catchment school, or the allocated school and have accepted a place for 
their child at an alternative school, which is the statutory qualifying 
distance appropriate to the age of the pupil from where the pupil is 
ordinarily resident, providing the LA does not incur additional 
expenditure.  A zero fare bus pass to enable the pupil to attend the 
alternative school will be provided equivalent to that which the pupil 
would have received had s/he attended either the catchment, or 
allocated, school as the case may be. 

 
6.3 Where a pupil qualifies for assistance with transport under these exceptions, 

the parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 
arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 
stop if required. 

 
6.4 The LA is not in a position to guarantee travelling arrangements to any school, 

such arrangements are entirely in the hands of the providers of bus services 

and/or SYPTE. 

6.5 When selecting alternative schools, parents/carers must do so in the 

knowledge that, unless they qualify under the above exceptions, free 

transport, or assistance with transport costs, will not be available, regardless 

of the distance involved.  They should also consider, as a factor in making 

their decision, the consequences of possible future alterations to bus 

services. 

  

Page 84



7 
 

 

7 EXCEPTIONS 
 

 For pupils who do not qualify for free transport under sections 3, 4, 5 or 

6.2(a),6.2(b) or 6.2(c) because they live less than the statutory qualifying 

distance appropriate to their age, assistance with transport will be considered 

in circumstances where: 

a) the LA determines that, because of injury or medical condition the pupil 
is unable to access their normal method of reaching school.  It is the 
responsibility of parents/carers to provide such information, as the LA 
may request to enable a decision to be made on whether, and in what 
form, assistance will be offered. 

 

b) having had regard to the age of the child, the walking route, or alternative 

routes, to the school the pupil could reasonably be expected to take 

is/are not considered to be reasonably safe and available even when 

accompanied by an adult.  The LA has established criteria for the 

assessment of the availability of a walking route to School and will 

determine the availability or otherwise of a route in accordance with the 

approved criteria.  Where the LA determines assistance with transport 

should be made it will normally be through the provision of a zero fare 

bus pass. 

 

8 PUPILS FROM LOW INCOME FAMILIES 

8.1 The Education and Inspections Act 2006 introduced free transport assistance 

for pupils from low income families.  Pupils who qualify under this legislation 

are pupils in receipt of Free School Meals (FSM) or whose families are in 

receipt of Maximum Working Tax Credit (MWTC).  Pupils meeting the 

following criteria will receive transport usually in the form of a zero fare bus 

pass. 

8.2 Primary Pupils 

 Pupils aged 8 to 10 who are attending their nearest qualifying school* and the 

distance between home and school is more than 2 miles  

8.3 Secondary School Pupils 

 Pupils aged 11 to 16 attending any 1 of their 3 nearest qualifying schools* 

where the distance between home and school is more than 2 miles but not 

more than 6 miles from their home address  

Page 85



8 
 

 

8.4 Pupils attending School on grounds of Religion or Belief 

 Pupils up to 16 years of age attending their nearest appropriate 

denominational school on grounds of religion or belief, where the distance 

between home and school is more than 2 miles but not more than 15 miles  

8.5 Distances referred to in this section are measured as follows: 

● Up to 2 miles – as per the statutory walking distance, along the nearest 

available walking route. 

● The 6 miles upper limit or the 15 miles upper limit – along road routes 

passable by suitable motorised transport. 

 *The nearest qualifying school is one with places available that provides 

education appropriate to the age, ability and aptitude of the child. 

8.6 Once eligibility has been determined and confirmed, the pupil will remain 

eligible until the end of the school year for which the assessment has been 

made. 

9 POST 16 – SIXTH FORM/FURTHER EDUCATION STUDENTS 

9.1 Please note that as a result of the Council having to prioritise expenditure, 

with effect from September 2010, the LA will no longer provide free transport 

for Post 16 students entering into further education at Sixth form or College 

for the first time or undertaking new courses.   

10 SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS : PUPILS AND STUDENTS (UP TO THE 

AGE OF 19) 

10.1 General 

 Each pupil or student identified by the LA as having Special Educational 

Needs (SEN) (under the four overarching types of need: Communication and 

Interaction, Cognition and Learning, Sensory and/or Physical or Social, 

Emotional and Mental Health), will have their individual transport needs 

assessed against set agreed criteria, taking into account their age, mobility 

and the effect of their special educational needs on their ability to travel.  If it 

is concluded that a pupil or student does not require transport assistance 

under this section, then consideration will be given under the other sections 

of this policy as appropriate. 

  

Page 86



9 
 

 

10.2 Pupils and Students with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or 

Education Health care Plan 

10.2.1 For pupils and students being considered for an Education Health Care Plan 

or with an existing statement of SEN, an assessment of transport need will be 

undertaken by the SEN Assessment Officers at the draft EHCP or amended 

EHCP or amended statement of SEN stage.  This will be shared with 

parents/carers who are encouraged to express their views about all aspects 

of their child’s SEN provision, including transport.  Transport is not routinely 

included in a Statement of SEN but may be included in an EHCP Plan 

exceptionally, for example if transport provision is agreed as part of a 

Personal Budget.  Statements of SEN will cease by April 2018 and children 

will either have their needs met at the SEN Support Stage or with an EHCP. 

10.2.2 The provision of transport to meet a pupil or student’s need will be in 

accordance with the provisions of this section and will be reviewed and, if 

necessary, reassessed at each annual review of the statement or EHCP.  

Where it is decided that: 

● a transport need is now required; or 

● a transport need previously identified should be modified; or 

● transport is no longer required 

The pupil or student’s statement or EHCP will be amended accordingly. 

10.3 Pupils and Students with Special Educational Needs but no Statement 

 For pupils and students with SEN but without a statement or EHCP, an 

assessment of transport need will be undertaken by the appropriate Officer(s) 

at the time a decision on the provision to be made for the pupil or student to 

meet their need is taken.  Where it is determined that the provision of a zero 

fare bus pass would not be appropriate to meet the needs of the pupil or 

student, the provision of transport will be in accordance with the provisions of 

this section and will be reviewed and, if necessary, reassessed annually by 

the appropriate Officer(s). 

10.4 Independence Training 

10.4.1 All secondary age pupils, and students over compulsory school age, with SEN 

who have previously been assessed as requiring transport assistance under 

this section, will receive support for independence and mobility training as 

part of their school/college curriculum with the aim of reducing their reliance 

on individual transport in preparation for adult life.  This will require plans to 

encourage independent travel to be put in place by the school/college and 

Page 87



10 
 

parents/carers working in partnership, to mutually agreed targets.  Progress 

should be evidenced at each annual review.  There is a specific duty on 

schools and LAs to begin planning for the transition to adulthood formally from 

Y9. 

10.4.2 School and parents/carers will encourage their children to take up 

public/community transport options at the earliest opportunity – this will be 

regarded as a positive achievement towards the pupil or student’s attainment 

in becoming an independent traveller.  Where transport is ceased under this 

section, pupils and students may be eligible for support under other sections 

of this policy as appropriate 

10.5 Provision of Transport for pupils and students with SEN 

10.5.1 The type of transport assistance provided will be the most appropriate, taking 

into account the child’s age, safety and needs as assessed in accordance 

with the approved assessment criteria.  A pupil or student will normally be 

expected to share a vehicle with other pupils and/or students.  Individual 

transport will only be provided in exceptional circumstances and where the 

need for individual transport has been clearly identified from the assessment 

under the approved assessment criteria.  Social reasons such as out of hours 

activities or parents/carers work commitments will not be regarded as valid 

reasons for determining the type of transport assistance for their child. 

10.5.2 A zero rated bus pass will operate from the bus stop nearest to the pupil’s 

home.  Parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making 

appropriate arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the 

nearest bus stop if required. 

10.5.3 Pupils and students who are assessed as requiring travel on a coach, mini-

bus, taxi/private hire or similar vehicle, will be picked up and dropped off at 

the most convenient designated point nearest to their home address, having 

due regard to their needs and safety.  Pupils will only be guaranteed collection 

and drop-off from outside their home address if their needs exceptionally 

require this arrangement.  Social reasons such as out of hours activities or 

parents/carers work commitments will not be regarded as valid reasons for 

such an arrangement.  In either circumstance, it is the responsibility of 

parents/carers to ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 

arrangements to accompany their child to and from the designated pick-up 

point, or see them safely onto and off the vehicle. 

10.5.4 Approval will not be given for ad hoc or occasional variations to the 

arrangements determined by the LA under 10.5.3.  If parents/carers request 

a variation to the arrangements for example, for their child to be collected 

from, or dropped off at, a relative/neighbour/child-minder’s address, 

Page 88



11 
 

consideration to an amendment to the agreed travel arrangements will only 

be given where: 

 

● the request is for a permanent change on each school day; and 

● no change to the transport provider will be required; and 

● no additional cost will be incurred by the LA; and 

● the request would not add unreasonable additional travelling time for 

other pupils in the vehicle 

 

Where these requirements cannot be met the request will be declined. 

10.5.5 Arrangements will be made to transport pupils with SEN as follows: 

a) day pupils/students - at the start and end of each 
school/college day; 

 
b) pupils/students who board for 

5 days 

 
- 

 
at the start and end of each 
school/college week; 

 
c) pupils/students who board for 

7 days 

 
- 

 
at the start and end of each 
school/college term and half term. 

 

 In addition pupils who are in the National Curriculum Year Group 7 or below 

ie who have not yet had their twelfth birthday, and who board for 7 days, will 

be provided with additional return journeys for two weekends per half-term. 

10.5.6 Any special equipment or supervision arrangements required because of the 

child’s needs will normally be arranged by the LA. 

10.5.7 No assistance with transport will be provided under this section where the LA 

has identified an institution or provider to meet a pupil or student’s need but 

the parents/carers  preference is to send their child to a more distant institution 

or provider of the same type.  For pupils and students with a statement of 

SEN or EHCP, this will apply irrespective of whether the institution or provider 

is named in the statement or EHCP, which will make clear there will be no 

support with transport. 

11 SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS STUDENTS OVER THE AGE OF 19 

11.1 Individual transport needs will be assessed against set agreed criteria, by the 

appropriate Officers of the Learning Opportunities and Skills Children Young 

People Directorate for students who are; 

● over the age of 19 and under 25 years of age on 1 September each year; 

and 

Page 89



12 
 

● ordinarily resident in the LA area; and 

● have, or have had previously, a S139a, a statement of SEN, an EHCP 

and a Social Services Assessment of Need which includes, or included, 

in order to meet the needs of the student, a requirement for transport; 

and 

● be registered or registerable as disabled under the Chronically Sick and 

Disabled Persons’ Act 1970; and 

● attending a course funded by the Education Funding Agency.  at a local 

FE College) which has been agreed as appropriate to meet the needs of 

the student, unless attendance on a course at another institution has 

been agreed as more appropriate to meet a specific educational and/or 

social need of the student. 

 Progression in learning must be evidenced against outcomes in the 
EHCP.  Lack of progression will mean that transport will no longer be 
approved.  Funding will not normally be provided where a student 
repeats a course or studies at the same academic level as one 
previously studied. 
 

11.2 Assessment may include undertaking a transport assessment with trained 

travel trainers, failure to attend assessment could mean transport is not 

provided. Where assistance with transport is deemed necessary it will be 

provided in accordance with the provisions of this section until the completion 

of the course for which it was approved or the end of the academic year in 

which the student attains the age of 25 years whichever is the earlier.  

Assistance with transport will, if necessary, be subject to an annual review 

and/or reassessment. 

11.3 Provision of Transport 

11.3.1 Students will normally be provided with a zero fare bus pass to enable them 

travel free of charge between the student’s place of ordinary residence and 

the college.  Where a college has several sites at which the student is required 

to attend, free travel will be provided to one designated site only which is 

agreed between the LA, the student and the college authorities. 

11.3.2 Where the LA has determined that transport using a zero fare bus pass is not 

appropriate, the type of transport assistance provided will be the most 

appropriate taking into account the student’s age, safety and needs as 

assessed in accordance with the approved assessment criteria.  A student 

will normally be expected to share a vehicle with other students.  Individual 

transport will only be provided in exceptional circumstances and where the 

need for individual transport has been clearly identified from the assessment 

under the approved assessment criteria.  Social reasons such as out of hours 

activities or parents/carers work commitments will not be regarded as valid 

reasons for determining the type of transport assistance. 

Page 90



13 
 

11.3.3 Students who are assessed as requiring travel on a coach, mini-bus, 

taxi/private hire or similar vehicle, will be picked up and dropped off at the 

most convenient designated point nearest to their home address, having due 

regard to their needs and safety.  Students will only be guaranteed collection 

and drop-off from outside their home address if their needs exceptionally 

require this arrangement.  Social reasons such as out of hours activities or 

parents/carers work commitments will not be regarded as valid reasons for 

such an arrangement. It is the responsibility of parents/carers to ensure the 

student’s safety by making appropriate arrangements to accompany them to 

and from the designated pick-up point, or see them safely onto and off the 

vehicle. 

 Where a college has several sites at which the student is required to attend, 

transport will be provided to one designated site only which is agreed between 

the LA, the student and the college authorities, any inter site transfer will be 

the responsibility of the college to provide.   

11.3.4 Approval will not be given for ad hoc or occasional variations to the 

arrangements determined by the LA under 11.3.3.  If the student/parents/ 

carers request a variation to the arrangements for example, for their child to 

be collected from, or dropped off at, a relative/neighbour’s address, 

consideration to an amendment to the agreed travel arrangements will only 

be given where: 

● the request is for a permanent change on each college day; and 

● no change to the transport provider will be required; and 

● no additional cost will be incurred by the LA; and 

● the request would not add unreasonable additional travelling time for 

other students in the vehicle. 

 

 Where these requirements cannot be met the request will be declined. 

11.3.5 Any special equipment or supervision arrangements required because of the 

student’s needs will normally be arranged by the LA. 

11.3.6 Arrangements will be made to transport students as follows: 

 

a) day students - at the start and end of each 
college day; 

 
b) students who board for 5 days 

 
- 

 
at the start and end of each 
college week; 

 
c) students who board for 7 days 

 
- 

 
at the start and end of each 
college term and half term. 

Page 91



14 
 

 

11.3.7 Where attendance at a college other than Doncaster College (or Dearne 

Valley College if that is nearer to the student’s permanent address) has been 

agreed and the student could attend by boarding but elects to travel daily, no 

transport will be arranged.  Instead, the student will be assisted by a payment 

towards the cost of travel, which will be calculated as follows: 

i) The total cost of daily travel for the academic year will be calculated as 

if it had been arranged by the LA in accordance with paragraph 11.3.2; 

ii) from this figure shall be deducted the residential costs that would 

otherwise have been payable by, or on behalf of, the student. 

12 PUPILS AND STUDENTS IN PUBLIC CARE (UP TO THE AGE OF 19) 

 The LA recognises its duties and responsibilities in respect of pupils and 

students in Public Care.  For the purposes of determining any assistance with 

transport, pupils and students in public care will be considered under the 

appropriate section of this policy. 

13 EXCLUDED PUPILS AND STUDENTS 

13.1 Pupils of Compulsory School Age Attending Schools 

13.1.1 Where a pupil has been excluded from his/her school, and the LA allocates 

an alternative school which is the statutory qualifying distance appropriate to 

the age of the pupil from where the pupil is ordinarily resident, a zero fare bus 

pass to enable the pupil to attend the allocated school will be provided. 

13.1.2 Where the parents/carers of the pupil choose for him/her not to attend the 

allocated school and accept a place at an alternative school, which is the 

statutory qualifying distance appropriate to the age of the pupil from where 

the pupil is ordinarily resident, to the extent that the LA does not incur 

additional expenditure, a zero fare bus pass to enable the pupil to attend the 

alternative school will be provided equivalent to that the pupil would have 

received had s/he attended either the catchment, or allocated, school as the 

case may be. 

13.1.3 Where a pupil qualifies for assistance with transport under this section, the 

parents/carers should ensure their child’s safety by making appropriate 

arrangements for their child to be accompanied to and from the nearest bus 

stop if required. 

13.1.4 The LA is not in a position to guarantee travelling arrangements to any school 

– such arrangements are entirely in the hands of the providers of bus services 

and/or SYPTE. 

Page 92



15 
 

13.1.5 When selecting alternative schools, parents/carers do so in the knowledge 

that, unless they qualify under the above exceptions, free transport, or 

assistance with transport costs, may not be available, regardless of the 

distance involved.  They should also consider, as a factor in making their 

decision, the consequences of possible future alterations to bus services. 

13.2 Pupils of Compulsory School Age attending other Provision 

 Where a pupil has been excluded from his/her school, and the LA arranges 

provision for the pupil at institutions other than a school, assistance with 

transport will be considered under Section 13.1 of this policy. 

14 APPEALS 

14.1 Parents/carers will have the right to appeal against any determination made 

on assistance with transport by Officers of the LA under this policy.  This will 

be a 3 stage process as follows: 

14.2 The Stage One Review 

 This Review will be undertaken by a Senior Officer of the Council. 

 Parents/carers will have 20 working days from receipt of the local 
authority’s decision to refuse their application to complete and return a 
Notice of Appeal Form requesting a review of the decision.  This form 
should be completed by the parent/carer and give details of any personal 
or family circumstances that the parent/carer believes should be taken into 
account when the decision is reviewed. 

 Within 20 days of receipt of this form, a Head of Service will review the 
case and send out a letter notifying the parent/carer of the decision. 

 The letter should explain how the review was conducted, information 
about other Departments or Agencies that have been consulted as part of 
the process, the rationale for the decision reached and information about 
how the parent can escalate their case to stage 2. 

 

14.3 The Stage Two Review 

 This Review will be undertaken by an Assistant Director. 

 Parents/carers will have 20 working days from receipt of the Stage 1 
decision to make a written request to escalate the matter to Stage 2. 

 Within 20 days of receipt of this form, an Assistant Director will review the 
case and send out a letter notifying the parent/carer of the decision. 

 The letter should explain how the review was conducted, information 
about other Departments or Agencies that have been consulted as part of 
the process, the rationale for the decision reached and information about 
how the parent can escalate their case to stage 3. 

 

14.4 The Stage Three Review 

Page 93



16 
 

 This Review will be undertaken by an independent appeal panel (the Awards 

Grants and Transport Appeals Committee) 

 A parent/carer will have 20 working days from receipt of the Stage 2 
decision to make a written request to escalate the matter to Stage 3. 

 Democratic Services will be informed that an appeal has been received, 
they will arrange a date for the Hearing and will send out Agendas and 
invites to the meeting. 

 Within 40 working days of receipt of the parent/carer’s request The Awards 
Grants and Transport Appeals Committee will consider written and verbal 
representations from both the parent and Officers involved in the case. 

 Democratic Services will send out notification of the outcome of the appeal 
within 5 working days which will set out: 

 

o The nature of the decision reached. 
o How the review was conducted, information from other agencies or 

departments consulted, what factors were considered, the rationale 
for the decision reached and information about the parent’s right to 
put the matter to the Local Government Ombudsman. 

o It will be made clear that a referral of a complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman should only be made if the complainant 
considers that there was a failure to comply with the procedural rules 
or if they consider that there have been any irregularities in the 
handling of the appeal.  

 
14.5 All hearings of the Panel will be conducted in accordance with the approved 

protocol. 

15 REQUESTS FOR PERSONAL BUDGETS 

15.1 Eligibility 

 In order to qualify for a Personal Budget a pupil must satisfy the following 

criteria:  

 the pupil must have an EHC Plan, and 

 must fall into one of the four categories of ‘eligible child’ ( please see Note 
7 for definition  of ‘eligible child’) and 

 the Local Authority must not have suitable transport running that the pupil 
could fit on at no additional cost or at less than the mileage allowance 
payable in the personal budget. 
 

15.2 Payment of Personal Budget 

 Personal Budgets will be paid termly in advance based on the actual mileage 

allowance multiplied by the number of days the pupil is expected to attend.  

Payment will be paid by BACS transfer, parents will need to supply bank 

account details to enable this to take place. 

  

Page 94



17 
 

The payment of the Personal Budget will be paid at the following rates in 

accordance with the Officer Decision 10/11 139 taken on 23 December 2010 

which is: 

Circumstances Suggested Rate Per Mile 

Parents offer to undertake transport 
but pupil can fit on existing transport at 
nil cost. 

Nil – Request refused 

Parent offers to transport their own 
child no other run in place. 

23p (taken from AA motoring 
costs mid point) NB: Rate 
based as at July 2014 will 
need to be reviewed on an 
annual basis as rates change. 
 

Local Authority requests parents to 
transport own child as LA is unable for 
whatever reason to provide transport 
(eg Health and Safety). 

45p (current LA car mileage 
rate) 

 

 The payment will be calculated using the mileage between home and school 

Eg 10 miles between home and school = 40 miles (2 return journeys) x 23p x 

50 days (January – March) = £460.  The mileage will be determined by the 

shortest route using the Council’s Geographical Information System. 

 NB: Please note that this payment is based on the assumption that the pupil 

will attend school regularly in order for this payment to continue.  Any long 

term absence, will result in a corresponding deduction in any future termly 

payments and/or a request for repayment to the Council, as deemed 

appropriate in the circumstances. 

15.3 Disagreement Resolution 

 The Council will explain in writing if they do not agree with a parental or an 

eligible young person’s request in relation to a Personal Budget and parents 

and or the eligible young person can ask for a review of an the decision and 

make representations where: 

 an aspect of provision in the EHCP has not been offered as a Personal 
Budget and they would like to have this reconsidered; 

 a Personal Budget has not been offered at all; 

 it is felt that the Personal Budget is insufficient to meet the identified needs 
and outcomes. 
 

 The Council will confirm the outcome of a review in writing and will not 

reconsider a decision more than once. 

 

Page 95



18 
 

15.4 Examples of Travel not Eligible for Personal Budgets 

 The payment of a Personal Budget for travel will only be paid to support a 

pupil’s attendance at school or College. 

 The responsibility for the following type of travel lies with the School, College 

or parent/carer and will not be covered by the personal budget:- 

 travel to and from work placements; 

 travel to and from medical, dental, psychiatric, speech therapy or other 
similar appointments; 

 travel to and from extra-curricular activities, after school clubs, where this 
is in addition to home to school transport. 

 

16 CEASING ASSISTANCE WITH TRANSPORT 

16.1 The LA has adopted a Code of Practice for the safety and behaviour of pupils 

on Home to School transport.  If any pupil persistently endangers their own 

safety or that of others by not adhering to the Code of Practice, consideration 

will be given to ceasing their transport assistance and parents/carers will then 

be expected to make alternative arrangements to ensure their child attends 

school. 

16.2 In addition to the Code of Practice the LA has, in conjunction with the other 3 

South Yorkshire Authorities and SYPTE, produced a policy for managing 

criminal and unacceptable behaviour on public transport.  Any breach of this 

policy may result in the withdrawal of the zero fare bus pass and/or further 

measures being taken as appropriate. 

16.3 In cases where individual transport is provided by taxi or minibus, parents are 

requested to cancel transport when not required ie in case of holidays or 

illness.  Repeated failure to cancel transport when not required may lead to a 

recharge of the cost or ultimately cancellation of the transport. 

  

Page 96



19 
 

 

Page 97



20 
 

NOTES 

 

1 The LA 

 References in this policy to the ‘LA’ are a reference to Doncaster Metropolitan 

Borough Council and references to the ‘LA’s area’ is to the administrative area 

of the Borough. 

2 Parent/Carer 

 Reference to parent and/or carer in this policy means any person having 

parental responsibility for the child (for who assistance with transport is being 

sought) within the meaning of the Children Act 1989. 

 It is the responsibility of those applying for assistance with transport to satisfy 

the LA that they have parental responsibility for the child for whom assistance 

is being sought. 

3 Ordinarily Resident 

 Reference in this policy to ‘ordinarily resident’ means where a pupil or student 

is habitually and normally resident at their address other than for occasional 

absences and for a settled purpose, which is not solely to receive education ie 

the residence at which the child resides during the normal school week at the 

closing date for receiving applications for admission to school during the normal 

admission round.  

 Any reference to the pupil or student’s ‘home’, or to where they ‘live’ or ‘reside’ 

shall refer to where they are ordinarily resident. 

 It is the responsibility of those applying for assistance with transport to provide 

such information as the LA requires in order to be satisfied as to where the pupil 

or student is ordinarily resident. 

4 Statutory Qualifying Distance 

 The walking distances are: 

a) for pupils of less than 8 years of age (on 1 September) 2 miles; and 

b) for pupils aged 8 years or older and still of compulsory school age (on 

1 September) 3 or more miles. 

Each case is measured by the nearest available walking route. 

 

Page 98



21 
 

For the purposes of this policy, the walking distance will be measured from the 

front gate of the address where the LA has accepted the pupil or student is 

ordinarily resident, to the nearest designated entrance of the school or college 

to which assistance is being considered under the relevant clause of the policy. 

i.e. at the entrance to the grounds/boundary of the school or college. 

 The route measured will be the nearest direct available walking route, having 

had regard to the age of the child, the walking route, or alternative routes, to 

the school the pupil could reasonably be expected to take.  The LA has 

established criteria for the assessment of the safety of a walking route to school 

and will determine the availability or otherwise of a route in accordance with the 

approved criteria.  The assessment of the availability or otherwise of a route will 

be based on a child being accompanied by an adult.  It will be irrelevant for the 

purposes of that assessment whether or not the child would or would not be so 

accompanied when attending the school or college. 

 In the case of a pupil qualifying for free travel on the grounds of ‘low income’ ie 

they are in receipt of FSM or their family receives MWTC the distances will be 

measured as follows: 

● Up to 2 miles – as per the statutory walking distance along the nearest 

available walking route. 

● The 6 mile or 15 mile upper limit – along road routes passable by suitable 

motorised transport. 

The route will be measured using a computerised Geographical Information 

System.  The LA considers this as an exact measure and cannot be considered 

marginal.  If the LA considers it necessary a route may be measured by 

calibrated pedometer. 

5 Full-Time Course 

 References in this policy to a ‘full-time course’ is a reference to a course of 

which the student is required to study for at least 12 guided learning hours per 

week. 

6 Closing date for applications for Bus Passes 

 No refunds will be made for travel expenses incurred as a result of a late 

application for transport.  The closing date for new bus pass applications is 

30 June.  Whilst we will process bus pass applications at any time we will not 

guarantee that they will be available at the start of term unless received by the 

closing date. 

 

 

Page 99



22 
 

7 Definition of Eligible Child 

The following are examples of an Eligible Child 

i Children who attend schools beyond the statutory walking distance 

These children are eligible for free school transport, provided that the 

local authority has made no “suitable arrangements” for boarding 

accommodation or attendance at a nearer school and the children live 

beyond walking distance and attend their nearest suitable school.  The 

statutory walking distance is 2 miles for children under 8 years old and 

3 miles for children of 8 or over. 

ii Children with SEN, disabilities or mobility problems 

 These children may live within the statutory walking distance and have 

special educational needs, a disability or mobility problem which means 

that they cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their school and no 

suitable arrangements have been made by the Local Authority to enable 

them to attend a nearer school. 

iii Children whose route to school is unsafe 

 These children may live within the statutory walking distance but they 

cannot reasonably be expected to walk to their nearest suitable school 

because the route they could reasonably be expected to take is not 

deemed an available walking route, accompanied as necessary. 

iv Children from low income families 

 Secondary school age children who attend schools over 2 and up to 
6 miles from their home, even if the school they attend is not their 
nearest suitable school, providing there are not three or more suitable 
schools which are nearer to their home, or  

 Secondary age children from low income families who attend a 
school over 2 miles but under 15 miles away from home, if their 
parent has expressed a wish for them to be educated at that 
particular school based on the parent’s religion or belief and, having 
regard to that religion or belief, there is no nearer suitable school.  
This applies to parents with a particular religious or philosophical 
belief, including those with a lack of religion or lack of belief. 

 Junior age children (aged 8 – 10) from low income families who live 
more than 2 miles (rather than 3) from their nearest suitable school. 
 

Transport Policy 2015. final.Doc 

Revised  1 September 2020 

 

Page 100



1 
 

 

EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND 

INCLUSION  

 

DONCASTER METROPLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Due Regard Statement  

 

How to show due regard to the equality duty in how we develop our work 

and in our decision making. 

 

 

 

Page 101



Version 1 September 2013 
 

Due Regard Statement  

 

A Due Regard Statement (DRS) is the tool for capturing the evidence to 

demonstrate that due regard has been shown when the council plans and delivers its 

functions. A Due Regard Statement must be completed for all programmes, projects 

and changes to service delivery.  

 A DRS should be initiated at the beginning of the programme, project or 

change to inform project planning  

 

 The DRS runs adjacent to the programme, project or change and is reviewed  

and completed at the relevant points 

 

 Any reports produced needs to reference “Due Regard” in the main body of 

the report and the DRS should be attached as an appendix  

 

 The DRS cannot be fully completed until the programme, project or change is 

delivered.  

 

Page 102



Version 1 September 2013 
 

 

1 Name of the ‘policy’ and 

briefly describe the activity 

being considered including 

aims and expected 

outcomes. This will help to 

determine how relevant the 

‘policy’ is to equality. 

The policy is a revised Doncaster Council Home to School Transport Policy 2022–2027.  
 
The primary responsibility for ensuring pupils and students attend school or college is always that 

of the parent or carer. In certain circumstances however, in order to ensure attendance, Doncaster 

Council can help with travel arrangements. The new proposal has been the subject of a thorough 

consultation.  

Key changes that affect users are: 

1. Request for a contribution towards the future provision of dedicated taxi and/or minibus 
transport for all Post 16 - 19 SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities) pupils and 
students. Updated 21 Feb 22: This change is no longer being taken forward following 
feedback from the consultation 

2. Removal of the clause which currently provides bus passes on the basis of no extra cost in 
certain situations meaning increased preference for some people 

3. To no longer provide bus passes to pupils whose families move house during Academic 
Years 10 or 11  

4. Removal of the current requirement within the ‘Home to School Transport’ policy which 
provides travel assistance to pupils attending their catchment school.  In future this will state 
their nearest available school only, if they meet the distance criteria for eligibility, regardless 
of wether or not this is catchment. Updated 10 June 22: This change has been put on hold 
and will not be taken forward at this time as initial work on the scope of this change indicates 
that this will impact a greater number of pupils than originally thought and there is a need for 
more comprehensive scoping to assess impact and solutions before this can be considered 
further. 

There are a number of other suggestions for refreshing and changing within the Policy which were 
proposed and included in the Consultation Document.  An opportunity to discuss these was also 
provided.. 

 

P
age 103



Version 1 September 2013 
 

The new version of the Home to School Travel Assistance Policy will outline the responsibilities of 

the Council and provide a clear and transparent guide for families to the instances when travel 

assistance will be provided. It will also detail the types of travel assistance available to eligible pupils 

and students.  

2 Service area responsible for 

completing this statement. 

Travel Assistance Service 
Learning & Opportunities: Children & Young People 
 

3 Summary of the information 

considered across the 

protected groups. 

Service users/residents 

Doncaster Workforce 

In the majority of cases, the policy is applied to children and young people aged between 4 and 25 
years of age. We hold information about their age, disability, gender, race and religion and belief. 
Only age, address, disability and religion and belief are considered in terms of eligibility for 
support, and this is supported by the current legislation.  
 
There are currently approximately 1000 children and young people who receive direct transport 
assistance with a further 1100 in receipt of a zero fare bus pass. Although the revision of policy 
applies to all, the following estimated numbers would be affected by the key changes if approved, 
and the policy has been revised in such a way to limit impact as much as possible. 

1. Post 16-19 SEND Students                                                      Approximately 82 (21.2.22 no 
longer impacted as removed post consultation) 

2. Pupils received bus passes on the basis of No extra cost        Approximately 100 
3. Pupils who move hourse during years 10 and 11                     Approximately 14 

 
The majority of the statements within the consultation document were not changes to the Policy 
but updates and clarification of the Policy already in place 
 
The main assessment criteria for help with travel arrangements is the distance between home 
and nearest suitable school. Where the distance between the two is equal to or more than 2 
miles (4-8 year olds) or 3 miles (over 8-16), free travel assistance will be provided. This will 
normally be facilitated through the provision of a zero fare bus pass for the child. 

Although distance between home and school remains the central tenet of the policy there are 
additional exceptions based on low income and, in terms of protected characteristics, disability and 
religion and belief.  

P
age 104



Version 1 September 2013 
 

For Children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities the provision of travel assistance 
takes into account their individual needs and is not dependent upon the mileage above. 

 

4 Summary of the 

consultation/engagement 

activities 

There has been a significant amount of consultation undertaken in the development of the revised 
Home to School Travel Assistance Policy. The review of the existing ‘Home to School Transport’ 
Policy commenced in August 2021 enabling a full analysis and assessment of current policy 
provision. 

Four Pre-Consultation sessions were held on: 

 Tuesday 16th November 10:00am – 11:00am 

 Thursday 18th November 6:00pm – 7:00pm 

 Monday 22nd November 6:00pm – 7:00pm 

 Tuesday 23rd November 10:00am – 11:00am    
 

These sessions were provided for parents and carers to talk about the future of ‘home-to-school’ 
transport for children with special educational needs and disabilities, and children accessing other 

travel provision.  Before we started a formal consultation process, we were keen to gather some 
initial thoughts and feedback on our suggestions. To ensure everyone’s safety with the on-going 
coronavirus pandemic, the sessions were held virtually via the Microsoft Teams platform with 
opportunities to write or email any feedback or speak on the telephone on a 1 to 1 basis. 

A separate consultation session was held on 29th November 2021 with the Doncaster Parents Voice 
to discuss the policy suggestions, promote collaborative working and understand the views and 
comments from this group.  

Doncaster Council entered into a period of formal consultation on 29th November 2021. This ran 
until 31st January 2022 (9 weeks) offering the opportunity for Doncaster residents to comment upon 
the proposed changes to the existing ‘Home to School Transport’ policy.  

Full details are provided in the Consultation document (Appendix 1). 

To ensure that the widest possible audience was reached copies of the consultation document were 
issued to parents, carers & professionals who access transport services (including professionals, 
schools and other services both within the local authority and stakeholders in other authorities). This 

P
age 105



Version 1 September 2013 
 

was also published on the Council’s Website for the duration of the consultation period with regular 
updates and reminders published through Doncaster Council’s social media provision and 
Communications Team.  

To maximise the return rate, a number of different methods of response were made available.  These 
were:  

 Online – consultation documents available to complete and return digitally 

 E-mail – consultation documents / comments returned electronically. 

 Post – opportunity for printed consultation documents return by post or via Doncaster 
Council’s Family Hubs 

 Direct contact with the Doncaster Council’s Transport Team and Projects & Transformation 
Team 
 

Seven formal consultation events were offered during the consultation period and were open to all 
to attend. These events were regularly promoted through the consultation documents and regular 
posts Doncaster Council’s social media. The events were provided on: 

 Friday 10th December 10:00am – 11:00am  

 Tuesday 14th December 6:00pm – 7:00pm  

 Tuesday 11th January 2022 10:00am – 11:00am  - cancelled as no requests to attend 

 Thursday 13th January 2022 6:00pm – 7:00pm 

 Tuesday 18th January 2022 10:00am – 11:00am  

 Wednesday 19th January 2022 10:00am – 11:00am  

 Thursday 20th January 2022 6:00pm – 7:00pm  
 

To ensure everyone’s ongoing safety these sessions were also held virtually via the Microsoft 
Teams platform with opportunities to write or email any feedback or speak on the telephone on 
a 1 to 1 basis. 
 
By the close of the formal consultation period (31st January 2022), Thirteen consultation documents 
were completed and returned.  

P
age 106



Version 1 September 2013 
 

5 Real Consideration: 

 

Summary of what the 

evidence shows and how 

has it been used 

All 16 questions within the main consultation document received at least one response.  The most 
responses to any one question was 10 responses to question 2, with 13 questions receiving more 
than one response.  

An additional 80 responses were received from the short form survey launched to cover the key 
proposals within the consultation. 

These responses together with additional comments from the Consultation Events are included in 
Appendix 2 

Saving has never been the prime consideration, but value for money considerations provide extra 
impetus to make the change. The main focus of revising the policy is to ensure that it is clear and 
transparent about the principles, process and services available, and all changes made have been 
considered in terms of impact on all users, including those of protected characteristics. 
 
Following analysis of the feedback from the consultation and listening to the thoughts and 
views of families, the decision was taken not to proceed with the proposal to charge a 
contribution to families in receipt of Post 16 -19 transpsort.  It was recognised that this would 
put some already struggling families into further hardship and we want to support our most 
vulnerable families. 
 
It was decided to proceed through the governance process with the remaining proposals. 
 
Updated 10 June 2022:  The porposed removal of provision of bus passes to catchment 
schools has now been put on hold as initial work on the scope of this change indicates that 
it will impact a greater number of pupils than originally thought.  A more detailed scoping 
process is required to fully assess the impact and review current public transport availability 
in some areas is needed before this can be considered further. 

  

6 Decision Making Due Regard Statement will accompany the agenda item at Cabinet meeting on 20th July 2022 
 
The cabinet report provides greater detail around the consultation process and how consideration 
of protected characteristics / due regard has been an ongoing concern throughout the revision 
process. Regular updates on due regard and the overall process have been provided to the 

decision maker throughout.  
 

P
age 107



Version 1 September 2013 
 

7 Monitoring and Review Following publication of the Policy, monitoring of Travel Assistance Appeals will be undertaken on 
an ongoing basis in respect of the key change proposed to assess the impact of this. 

 

8 Sign off and approval for 

publication 

Kim Holdridge, Service Manager, Pupil Support & Passenger Transport 

 

P
age 108


	Agenda
	5. Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 2022-2027
	Appendix 1A  Consusltation Document
	Appendix 1B  Survey Questions
	Appendix 2  Consultation Feedback
	Appendix 3 Draft Home to School Travel Assistance Policy 2022 - 2027
	Appendix 4   Home to School Transport Policy 2015 (Revised September 2020)
	Appendix 5 Travel Assistance Policy Due Regard Statement


